

UNAIDS PROGRAMME COORDINATING BOARD

UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.26 Issue date: 22 November 2016

THIRTY-NINTH MEETING

Date: 6-8 December 2016

Venue: Executive Board Room, WHO, Geneva

.....

Agenda item 11

HIV and ageing

BACKGROUND NOTE

.....

Disclaimer

The case studies used in this background note are presented as they were submitted, and do not, implied or otherwise, express or suggest endorsement, a relationship with or support by UNAIDS and its mandate and/or any of its Cosponsors, Member States and civil society. The content of the case studies has not been independently verified. UNAIDS makes no claims, promises or guarantees about the completeness and accuracy of the content of the case studies, and expressly disclaims any liability for errors and omissions in the content. The designations employed and the presentation of the case studies do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNAIDS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Nor does the content of the case studies necessarily represent the views of Member States, civil society, the UNAIDS Secretariat or the UNAIDS Cosponsors.

For further reference, all case studies can be found online as a Conference Room Paper through the PCB website: UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

Table of Contents

ntroduction	4
The status of the epidemic among people older than 50 years	5
Ageing with HIV: the interconnection of getting older and getting older	8
with HIV	8
Health challenges	8
Impact of long-term antiretroviral therapy	10
Quality of life, mental and social effects	12
Ageing and HIV: a diverse and heterogeneous population	15
HIV prevention among people aged 50 and over	15
Women living with HIV aged 50 and over	16
Key populations	18
Health, social and structural responses to ageing and HIV	21
Health sector responses	21
Strategies for healthy living	23
HIV risk reduction and prevention for people aged 50 and above	25
Structural interventions, including those addressing stigma and discrimination	26
Equipping healthcare providers	27
Sustaining ARV production, procurement and delivery	29
Social sector responses	29
A lifecycle approach to ageing with HIV: Areas of future action	33
References	37

Introduction

- 1. The 37th UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) meeting agreed that the theme for the Thematic Segment of the 39th meeting to be held in December 2016 would be HIV and Ageing.
- 2. In September 2015, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development was adopted, with a plan of action to leave no one behind. Following this, in May 2016, the World Health Assembly adopted the *First Global strategy and plan of action on ageing and health 2016-2020: towards a world in which everyone can live a long and healthy life*, which spans the 15-year period of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and calls for a global campaign to combat ageism [1,2].
- 3. Out of an estimated 36.7¹ million people living with HIV in 2015 globally, 5.8² million people (2.5³ million women and 3.3⁴ million men) are aged 50 and older and this figure continues to grow [3]. A concerted effort is clearly required to firmly place HIV and ageing on the international agenda. It is extremely important and timely that this topic be addressed from a people-centred and public health perspective.
- 4. Older people living with HIV, similar to other age groups, are characterized by great diversity – there is no typical older person [4]. Women and men aged 50 and over living with HIV are heterosexual, transgender, lesbian, gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, people who use drugs, people in prisons, among other, and as such, have different needs and different challenges. These ageing adults face significant social, psychological and physical challenges associated with the ageing process [5].
- 5. For people living with HIV aged 50 and older, the HIV-related and ageing-related health and social needs converge. HIV and ageing is also an important issue for people who are at risk and/or acquiring HIV at 50 years and above. HIV and ageing is an important issue for all people living with HIV, as to achieve the goal of universal access to antiretroviral therapy (ART) by 2030, ending the AIDS epidemic requires a healthy population of people living with HIV throughout the lifecycle.
- 6. Ageing and HIV is also important for children and young people living with HIV who will be managing an HIV infection for almost their entire lives. This includes people born with HIV who are living with HIV since birth. Although the ageing-related needs of this younger population group of people living with HIV are extremely important, this paper focuses more on the people living with HIV aged 50 and above.
- 7. The paper explores the state of the epidemic among people living with HIV and at risk of acquiring HIV aged 50 and above, the impact of ageing with HIV, including for key populations and women living with HIV, identifies areas of health and social sector responses and ends with recommendations for future actions.

¹ Uncertainty bounds [34.0 million-39.8 million]

²₃ Uncertainty bounds [5.4 million – 6.3 million]

³ Uncertainty bounds [2.3 million – 2.8 million]

⁴ Uncertainty bounds [3.0 million – 3.5 million]

THE STATUS OF THE EPIDEMIC AMONG PEOPLE OLDER THAN 50 YEARS

- 8. An increasingly significant trend in the global HIV epidemic is the growing number of people living with HIV aged 50 and over [6]. This is partly due to the success of ART in prolonging the lives of people living with HIV. Where ART is available and accessible, HIV has become a treatable chronic infection and many people living with HIV who acquired the virus in youth are now living into their 50s, 60s and beyond [7]. In addition, more middle-aged and older adults are contracting HIV [8]. This fits into the broader context of the global demographic shift where, in many settings, an increasing percentage of the population is over 50 due to increased life expectancy and falling fertility rates [4]. Though data on HIV prevalence and particularly incidence in this older population are limited, especially in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC), some studies suggest that both prevalence and incidence in the over-50-year-olds may be higher than expected; and yet the risk factors appear almost totally unexplored [9].
- 9. Globally, 17% of the adult population (15 and over) living with HIV is aged 50 and over and there are some notable differences between high and low-and-middle-income countries (see *Figure 1 below*). In 2015, more than 3 million people living with HIV⁵ aged 50 and over (2 million⁶ women and 1.6 million⁷ men) live in sub-Saharan Africa, constituting 80% of females and 50% of males living with HIV aged 50 and older globally [3]. This has increased from 1.4 million for women, and 1.2 million for men in 2010. In 2015, there were 580,000⁸ people aged 50 and over living with HIV in the Asia-Pacific region, 300,000⁹ in Eastern and Central Asia and 370,000¹⁰ in Latin America and the Caribbean and 860,000¹¹ people living with HIV aged 50 and over living with HIV aged 50 and over [3]. (*see Figure 2 below*). People aged 50 and over living with HIV in low-and middle-income countries represent 15% of adults (15 and over) living with HIV. In high-income countries, people aged 50 and over represent 31% of the adult populationliving with HIV in 2015, having increased from 13% in 2000 [3]. Modeling estimates in 2015 indicate an ongoing shift in the age composition of the HIV epidemic towards older ages [3].

¹⁰ uncertainty bounds [320,000-430,000]

⁵ uncertainty bounds [3.2 million – 4.0 million]

⁶ uncertainty bounds [1.8 million – 2,2 million]

⁷ uncertainty bounds [1.4 million-1.8 million]

⁸ uncertainty bounds [500,000-680, 000]

⁹ uncertainty bounds [280,000-320,000]

¹¹ uncertainty bounds [790,000-950,000]

Figure 1: Among adults (15+) living with HIV, the percent who are aged 50 and over, high-income countries and low-and middle-income countries, 2000–2020



Estimates. Projections 2016-2020 are based on an assumed scale-up of ART to reach 81% coverage by 2020. Note: Based on 2015 high-income and low-and-middle-income countries definitions.



Figure 2: Number of people living with HIV aged 50 and over, by regions, 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

10. There is very little directly measured data on HIV prevalence and incidence among those aged 50 and over. In a 2012 national HIV survey in South Africa, HIV prevalence was 13% among people aged 50–54 years, and 12% among women and 6.9% among men aged 55–59 years (compared to 18% among men and women aged 15-49 years) [10]. In Kenya, HIV prevalence was 5% among people aged 50-64 years (compared with 7.4% in people aged 15–49 years). In Swaziland, a 2006–2007 national population-based survey, found 13% of men and 7% of women aged 60–64 years were living with HIV (compared to 27% among men and women aged 15-49 years). In the cases of South Africa and Kenya where surveys have been repeated, prevalence among older individuals had increased compared to data from previous surveys [6]. Evidence from a study in the US suggested that the number of HIV cases in older women is expected to continue to increase as women live longer and where they engage in unsafe sex [11,12]. Systematic and relevant age- and sex-disaggregated data is needed in order to strengthen evidence-based policy and planning.

Ageing with HIV, Poland

During those 30 years I had pneumonia twice, bronchitis many times, I came close to tuberculosis, got infected with HCV type 3A, but got rid of it after 48 weeks of treatment with interferon, and have had cataracts in both eyes. In 2000. I was diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and recently bronchiectasis. In addition, I have degeneration of the spine. Despite these small problems, all the time I am on ARV therapy but for various reasons I changed combinations of drugs and for the last 18 months I am on treatment one-tablet Stribild. My CD4 increased to 1009 copies and my viral load has been undetectable for years. The most important thing for me is my family, my three children, their spouses, and my four grandchildren and two on the way.

I think I still have a lot to do here on earth

Wojciech J.Tomczyński, Chairman of Polish Network of PLWHA "Sieć Plus", Warsaw, Poland, 70 years old and living 30 years with HIV

- 11. While it is important to consider the population of people living with HIV ageing into this older age bracket, it is also important to consider the prevention and care needs of the people who acquire HIV at 50 years and older. In 2015, 120,000¹² people (50,000 women¹³ and 71,000 men¹⁴ aged 50 years and older acquired HIV [3]. A better understanding of the epidemiology of incident infection in older populations specifically where these infections are occurring, the demographics of those newly infected, and the risk factors for incident HIV infection is key in order to implement appropriate prevention and care interventions.
- 12. Older people represent a significant proportion of those attending treatment facilities for ART. In one multicenter cohort across nine countries in sub-Saharan Africa over 11% of people on ART were over 50 [13]. In a study in Uganda 11% of the ART patients were over 50 and a South Africa study reported 15% of patients living with HIV over 45 ([14–16], cited in [17]). This group of people aged 50 and over on ART would include those who have been

¹² uncertainty bounds [110,000-140,000]

¹³ uncertainty bounds [44,000-58,000]

¹⁴ uncertainty bounds [62,000-81,000]

on treatment for many years and those newly diagnosed, with some different considerations for support and medical management.

- 13. People living with HIV aged 50 and over who are not on treatment appear to progress more rapidly to AIDS than younger people who are not on treatment [18]. Several studies have shown that after starting ART, CD4 reconstitution is significantly slower among older persons ([13,19], cited in [17]). Though WHO recommends prompt initiation of ART for all people living with HIV, the reported slower rate of immune reconstitution in older adults underlines the importance of particularly rapid and early ART initiation for this age group [17].
- 14. Evidence also shows that older people are less likely to be routinely screened for HIV or take a test and, as a result, they are more likely to be diagnosed late in the course of HIV infection [20]. Confounding factors contributing to delayed diagnosis among people living with HIV aged 50 and older include long asymptomatic periods before the onset of advanced immunodeficiency, lack of patient awareness about or disclosure of risk factors for HIV infection, diagnostic confusion in patients of this age group [18] and providers who are either not aware of HIV in older populations or perceive that individuals in this age group are not at risk.

AGEING WITH HIV: THE INTERCONNECTION OF GETTING OLDER AND GETTING OLDER WITH HIV

15. The effects of ageing with HIV are still being studied. This is due in part to the fact that it is only recently that there has been a substantial cohort of people living with HIV for 20-30 years, many of whom are now aged 50 and above, and in part due to the fact that people living with HIV have often been seen as a homogeneous group with no variance in needs based on age groups.

Health challenges

- 16. People living with HIV aged 50 and above face particular health challenges. The interconnection of HIV and non-communicable diseases is influenced by increasing survival due to effective ART, lifestyle factors, long-term complications of ARVs and other disease conditions associated with ageing [21].
- 17. People living with HIV face an increased risk of developing a number of age-associated noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) [22], which may worsen HIV disease progression [18]. HIVassociated NCDs include cardiovascular disease, various cancers, neurological complications, liver and renal problems, bone abnormalities and 'frailty', diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and liver and kidney disease [8,23].
- 18. People living with HIV have long been known to be at increased risk of certain AIDS-defining cancers such as Kaposi's sarcoma, cervical cancer, and anal and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [24]. People living with HIV tend to develop such cancers younger and have advanced stage cancers more frequently. As a result, it is now understood that HIV leads to 'early' or 'accelerated' ageing [17]. Chronic inflammation and immune activation, usually seen in

elderly people, can therefore be present in people living with HIV who experience a type of premature ageing that affects quality of life [25].

- 19. People living with HIV are at increased risk of cardiovascular disease compared to HIV-negative people in the same age ranges, and cardiovascular disease accounts for an increasing proportion of mortality among people living with HIV [21]. Studies have confirmed that the risk of both myocardial infarction and cerebrovascular disease is 40–70% higher among people with HIV than among HIV-negative people of similar age and sex. Similar findings have also been reported in children and adolescents with HIV [21].
- 20. A large study in the US and Europe found that 60% of people living with HIV smoked. People living with HIV on ART may lose more life years due to smoking than through HIV, and mortality associated with smoking increases significantly with age [26].
- 21. In people living with HIV, ageing may result in an increased susceptibility to secondary infections and a delayed immune response [27]. Good nutrition is an important consideration in the clinical care of people living with HIV, one which is particularly important in the context of associated NCDs such as diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular and renal disease.
- 22. Studies from developed and developing countries have found that accelerated ageing could be a factor in cataract disease among people living with HIV [28,29]. Cataract disease is the leading cause of blindness worldwide. Ageing people living with HIV are also more susceptible to frailty, a condition that is associated with increased comorbidity and loss of autonomy [30]. In a study in France, 2 out of 3 people living with HIV were frail or pre-frail and 1 out of 2 were precarious.
- 23. HIV co-infections, in particular co-infection with TB and Hepatitis C (HCV), pose increasing challenges for people living with HIV. TB is one of the leading causes of death in people living with HIV. With increasing life expectancy and growing exposure to TB, it is possible that TB in the elderly may become an increasing problem globally [31]. Worldwide there are 2 300 000 HIV-HCV co-infections of which 1 363 000 are in people who use drugs [32,33]. Response to HCV treatment is weaker among people living with HIV. Several studies have shown that HIV-HCV co-infection is associated with more rapid progression to cirrhosis, end-stage liver disease, and liver cancer [32,34,35]. Drug use, HCV, and ageing together serve to worsen the neurocognitive profile of HIV [36] and increase the burden of disease for people who are co-infected with HIV and HCV.
- 24. While more work is needed to understand the impact of ageing for people living with HIV, responding to the health needs of people living with HIV over 50 needs to be placed within the broader context of the health systems response to the health needs of older adults. As people age, they are more likely to experience comorbidity the presence of more than one co-existing chronic condition at the same time. Comorbidity has a significant effect on functioning and quality of life and increases the risk of mortality. In high-income countries, more than half of all older people are affected by comorbidity, with prevalence increasing sharply in very old age [4]. In low- and middle-income countries comorbidity is likely to be more prevalent given the double burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases. In clinical practice comorbidity is under-recognized, under-diagnosed, underestimated and undertreated. [37].

- 25. Research from high income countries shows that people living with HIV may have up to five times the risk of chronic disease, geriatric syndromes and comorbidity, even for those whose HIV infection is well treated and managed [38,39]. People managing multiple chronic conditions may be taking a number of medications at the same time (polypharmacy) alongside antiretroviral (ARV), medication increasing the chance of medication interaction. New technologies aimed at reducing cardiac and cancer comorbidities among people aged 50 and older living with HIV could be both effective and cost-effective. For example, evidence suggests that a polypill (a medication that combines multiple active pharmaceutical ingredients) could have a role in reducing both cardiovascular and also cancer deaths [17].
- 26. Demographic projections for Africa and current data from rapidly developing countries, such as India and China, show that chronic diseases associated with ageing pose a high burden ([40] cited in [17]). For people living with HIV aged 50 and older in Africa, this indicates a triple threat in that HIV risk is likely underestimated, chronic diseases receive little attention and people living with HIV experience an increase in age-associated comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease and neurocognitive decline [17].
- 27. According to modeling, an increasing number of older adults living with HIV with frailty, geriatric syndromes and disability depict a "geriatric HIV" scenario and multimorbidity will be the norm. The proportion of people living with HIV 50 years and above will increase from 42% in 2015 to 95% in 2030; 30% of people living with HIV will have geriatric syndrome and 34% will be disabled [41]. This highlights the urgency to Fast Track the response for people living with HIV 50 years and above.

Impact of long-term antiretroviral therapy

- 28. People living with HIV aged 50 and over are more susceptible to the adverse effects of ARVs, lower rates of immune reconstitution, and experience higher rates of mortality even though virological responses to treatment are greater than those of younger individuals [42,43]. While adherence to HIV treatment among older people appears better than among younger people [44], the presence of other chronic illnesses may also often negatively impact on adherence rates [8].
- 29. People living with HIV aged 50 and over will increasingly have to manage the long-term side-effects of ARVs. Those with co-morbid conditions may be at higher risk for adverse effects, and are more likely to be taking multiple medications, increasing the risk of ART non-adherence and complications with medication interactions, threatening the efficacy of ART and the person's overall health. The actual side effects of long-term antiretroviral therapy affect men and women differently.

Ageing with HIV, South Africa

"Physically I am heavily restricted and while I tend to put on a brave 'no problem' face, I am uncomfortable most of the time [in any position, except when on my couch at a 45 degree angle or lying down on my bed]...anything else is very uncomfortable like sitting in a chair or plane seat/car seat] and in the past weeks, the pain in my hips and knees has escalated and is getting worse...I am destined to end up in wheelchair, it's just a matter of time. Not a reality I am looking forward to, but a reality none the less. My issues are not fixable and are degenerative. Fact.

I tell people that none of this is HIV related and while there is an element of truth in this, it's not 100% honest...long term use of ARV's have contributed to what I am dealing with - almost 13 years on

Chemo [ARVS] have taken their toll on my body. The neuropathy, osteoporosis and osteoarthritis are as a direct result of long-term exposure to ARV's. So I am out there advocating people getting on treatment but not telling them the long term effects of both the ARV's as well as the ageing process...the longer you are on ARV'S and the older you get, the more complications you have as you have to add ageing conditions/illnesses to the equations, so it gets complicated"

David Ross Patient, South Africa, 55 years old, Inspirational Speaker, Trainer, Author and longterm survivor of HIV

UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

- 30. Resistance to ARVs poses a real challenge for all people living with HIV, including those aged 50 and over as well as to the health systems that support them. Acquired resistance (development of resistance within an individual on treatment) and transmitted resistance (spread of drug-resistant strains) may reduce the effectiveness of treatment programmes at an individual and population level, and may result in a less profound effect of the ART scale-up ([45] cited in [46]). In people living with HIV who develop drug resistance, suppression of viral replication may not occur, potentially resulting in disease progression, shorter survival times and higher risk of HIV transmission. For those in more developed countries, resistance can be managed by changing to second and third-line ART regimens. However, for those living in less developed countries, most treatment programmes are not well equipped to deal with drug resistance since monitoring for resistance as well as provision of second and third-line treatment are expensive and require specialized health provider knowledge [46]. If the prevalence of resistance increases, the effectiveness of treatment coverage will decline, potentially posing a serious challenge to the goal of epidemic control.
- 31. Investment in new medicines formulations is much needed and both women and men over 50 living with HIV can and should be included in clinical trials.

Vihaan Care and Support Programme for People Living with HIV and AIDS, India

The Vihaan Care and Support Programme was set up by the HIV/AIDS Alliance and established 359 Care & Support Care & Support Centres (CSCs). The CSCs were linked to the government's ART centres across the country, serving as a comprehensive unit for treatment support for retention, adherence, positive living, referral and linkages to services. The CSCs also helped create an enabling environment for people living with HIV by working closely with service providers to ensure stigma-free and holistic services, especially those from high risk groups, and women and children living with and affected by HIV. Vihaan has been implemented in 32 states and 3 union territories across India, and has thus far enrolled 988,359 people living with HIV in active HIV care. Of these, 114,260 (12%) are in the 50+ age group including 71,635 male, 42,461 female, and 164 transgender individuals. Vihaan's greatest success has been in identifying the unique issues faced by people living with HIV in the 50+ age group. For example, Vihaan's data indicated that patients over 50 are more prone to discontinuing ART, therefore an active outreach team was set up to help with adherence and to track patient outcomes. A major challenge identified by Vihaan Care is the implementation of agesupportive policies - for example, among social protection schemes, priority is given to orphans and widows, yet many people living with HIV aged over 50 may be equally vulnerable due to increasing health issues associated with ageing. UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

Quality of life, mental and social effects

- 32. The effects of ageing and HIV are complex, impacting on overall quality of life including mental, physical and social effects.
- 33. Studies have shown a higher prevalence of depressive symptoms, alcohol and other drug abuse or dependence among people living with HIV across continents and within HIV key population groups [47,48]. Common mental health comorbidities among people living with HIV include depression, anxiety, dementia and other cognitive disorders [4]. Depression is the most common comorbid condition for people living with HIV, with prevalence rates up to three times higher than the general population [49]. In a large study of people 50 and over living with HIV, 39% showed symptoms of major depression [5]. Depression was significantly related to increased HIV-associated stigma, increased loneliness, reduced levels of energy and decreased cognitive functioning. As depression does not decline in populations living with HIV, it becomes increasingly relevant for older populations [50]. People living with HIV who have depression are less likely to adhere optimally to ART [21]. There is also evidence that depression and stress are adversely associated with HIV disease progression including increases in viral load, decreased CD4 count and greater risk for clinical decline and mortality [51]. People aged 50 and above living with HIV who report more psychological symptoms, also report more HIV-related stress, less support from friends and, importantly, reduced access to health care and social services due to AIDSrelated stigma [52]. Key elements in the treatment of depression occurring in association with HIV and ageing include medication, psychotherapy (individually or in groups), and community support services including psychosocial support [53] Of note, primary healthcare providers, including HIV counsellors, can be trained to recognize and treat common mental and substance-use disorders and refer patients to specialized services when warranted.

Planning for the Long Term: A Psychoeducational Workshop Series for People Ageing with HIV, Canada

HIV prevalence data in Ontario shows that increasing numbers of people living with HIV in the region are aged 50+. Ageing service users at the AIDS Committee of Toronto requested a group-based intervention to help address social isolation among people ageing with HIV, including long-term survivors, and provide knowledge about topics related to HIV and ageing across physical, emotional, and financial health categories. In response, Planning for the Long Term (PLT) was developed, and is funded via federal and municipal government grants. PLT takes the form of a workshop conducted twice per year, covering two dimensions: the April-June sessions focus on health, and the October-December sessions focuses on emotional wellness. The workshop comprises ten weekly 3-hour sessions, with facilitators who also coordinate participant recruitment. The workshops guest speakers are drawn from across disciplines and expertise, and include people living with HIV, doctors, researchers, and other allied health professionals. Topics addressed include aspects of physical health such as HIV treatment, nutrition, smoking cessation, and substance use and harm reduction, as well as aspects of emotional wellness such as mental health, communication with doctors and service providers, healthy relationships and social networks, and resilience. Over 100 people have participated in the workshops, and all have reported positive changes in physical, sexual, mental, and cognitive health, as well as social engagement. Many of the workshop participants have gone on to access referred services such as cognitive screening, exercise programmes, employment services, and other supports. Furthermore, many have also formed informal support networks, maintaining their connection even after the completion of PLT. UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

- 34. For people living with HIV aged 50 and older, the consequences of stigma, including self-stigma and discrimination are potentially devastating. Alongside complex health challenges caused by comorbidities, HIV has significant social, emotional and economic impact on people aged 50 and older. Studies have shown that HIV-related stigma negatively affects adherence to ARVs [54] and acts as a significant barrier to seeking care and support. Alongside experiences of stigma and discrimination that may include being shunned by family, peers and the wider community, poor quality and delayed health services significantly reduce the potential for positive outcomes from HIV treatment [55].
- 35. HIV-associated stigma is positively and significantly associated with depression in older people [5]. Self-stigma or internal stigma negatively impacts self-worth, self-esteem and psychological well-being; 48% of older adults felt ashamed of their illness at least some of the time [56].
- 36. Older people living with HIV are more likely to live alone, be without a primary partner and may have fewer friends and social support networks than younger people living with HIV [56]. In studies of older women living with HIV, profound experiences of self-stigma were reported where women believed no one would enter into an intimate relationship with them and they described themselves as feeling dirty [57]. People living with HIV aged 50 and over tend to disclose their HIV status to fewer people. This may in turn have implications on their willingness to seek appropriate services and support [56].

Seta Equal Ageing Project, Finland

Seta, a national NGO which advocates for LGBTI rights in Finland, created a training programme focused on good practice to overcome discrimination, and encourage participation, education, and lifelong learning. Fear of discrimination can be a significant barrier to accessing services for Finnish LGBTI, with one third of participants in a 2013 study stating that they chose not to use social or healthcare services because of this fear. Furthermore, a 2012 study on LGBTI and ageing had shown that three quarters of elderly care staff had not been given training in issues concerning LGBTI seniors. To address these needs, Equal Ageing was created to raise awareness of these issues among social and health care professionals, students, teachers, and elderly care service providers, and other service users. The programme includes the "I Wish I Could Tell" training documentary, produced in 2014, which makes LGBTI people's views on ageing and elderly care visible, and incorporates the story of nine Finnish LGBTI seniors who share experiences about their childhood, youth and ageing. Complementing this is the Rainbow Senior training session, which takes the form of a one-hour training workshop including discussion of ways to create an inclusive, nondiscriminating, and safe care environment for LGBTI seniors. The Equal Ageing project has a wide network that includes elderly care service providers, universities, vocational education institutions, NGOs working in the elderly care sector, researchers of LGBTI and ageing issues, and Finnish and European LGBTI organizations. This cooperation has been instrumental for the success of the project, helping raise awareness about elderly LGBTI persons. Equal Ageing practice develops the whole elderly care sector to be more inclusive instead of creating segregated services for LGBTI seniors, and supports service providers and professionals to see the diversity of the older community. It has also helped overcome social exclusion by offering elders a platform for interaction with other LGBTI seniors.

UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

37. Adults ageing with HIV often experience added complexities related to the social determinants of health and the double stigma of ageism and living with HIV [58]. Many older

people face stigma and discrimination not just because of their HIV status but also because of their age, which in turn can lead to further isolation and negative impacts on emotional well-being [59]. In addition, life events such as retirements, illness, relocation and death of family and loved ones can result in shrinking social networks [60]. For key populations such as gay men and other men who have sex with men, ageing can be viewed as a triple threat - the homophobia related to their sexuality, the stigma of HIV, and then ageism as they live longer [61]. Collectively, these combined health-related consequences and increased longevity of people living with HIV result in an increase in the disability experienced by older adults living with HIV [62].

38. Age discrimination and ageism is seen across the world. While the rights of older people are embedded in international human rights conventions on economic, social, civil and political rights, they are rarely made specific. Although rights do not change as people age, older men and women are considered to be inherently less valuable to society. Older people become more dependent on others, can lose some or all of their personal autonomy and participation becomes harder. They can be more susceptible to neglect, abuse and violation of their rights at family, community and institutional levels. This is further exacerbated for people living with HIV as a result of HIV-related stigma and discrimination. Specific threats in relation to age discrimination, which are similar for HIV discrimination include access to health care, employment, property and inheritance rights, access to information and education [63]. Indirect age discrimination includes for example, not collecting data on HIV infection in women and men over 49 as the failure to collect data results in the exclusion of older people from HIV and AIDS prevention programmes, and, therefore, discriminates against them [63].

Improving the Quality of Life for Older Persons and the People Under their Care in Uganda Uganda has around 150 100 people aged 50+ living with HIV, and the prevalence among this age group is estimated at 6.8%. Of these, only 10% know their HIV status, partly due to the fact that HIV counselling and testing centres are not age friendly. Help Age International and Uganda Reach the Aged Association (URAA) identified the need to establish the HIV Prevention, Care, and Treatment Advocacy Group in 2008, in order to mitigate the impact of HIV among older people in the country. URAA supports the advocacy group through Help Age International, coordinated by the Uganda Network of AIDS Service Organisations (UNASO). The advocacy group is implementing a 5-year project with participation of members from various civil society organizations, older persons' associations, and government departments. The group's objective is to advocate for increased access to HIV prevention, care, and treatment for older persons in Uganda, and influence policy development and implementation using an evidence-informedapproach. The advocacy group has reached over 200 older people. Moreover, it has contributed to the inclusion of older people in data collection by the Ministry of Health, raising the age cut off limit from 45 to 65. Older people have also now been included into national HIV and AIDS policies, strategies, and plans. The programme has also seen an increase in the number of older people accessing HIV counselling and testing services in the country's Iganga district since January 2015. The inclusion of individuals from key stakeholder institutions was a factor contributing to the project's success, including those living with HIV, who are passionate about championing the issues faced by their peers. UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

39. Studies have shown that ageing with HIV is accompanied by wisdom, patience, contentment, moderation, and a greater respect for health and life – traits that enable older adults to cope well with their illness [64]. In a 2011 study, resilience was identified among older people living with HIV as a positive concept of ageing and was related to self-acceptance, optimism, and self-management strategies [65]. Positive stories of ageing with HIV accompanied by a sharing of practical coping strategies should be widely promoted.

Involving older people living with HIV in research and advocacy as well as the development of programmes will ensure innovative and sustainable approaches. Better understanding successful and positive ageing can support in the identification of effective interventions that reduce disability and enhance the overall health of older adults with HIV [62].

AGEING AND HIV: A DIVERSE AND HETEROGENEOUS POPULATION

HIV prevention among people aged 50 and over

- 40. A key factor that is often overlooked in considering people 50 and over, is that this group is sexually active, and have varying levels of knowledge on sexual and reproductive health. An estimated 98,000¹⁵ people in low- and middle-income countries aged 50 years or over (45,000¹⁶ women and 53,000¹⁷ men) acquired HIV in 2015 and of these 83% live in sub-Saharan Africa [3]. There has been very little research into the sexual behavior and HIV incidence among this age group [46]. In addition, few prevention and comprehensive sexuality education programmes are age-appropriate for people over 50 years of age.
- 41. In a 2012 nationally representative household survey in South Africa, 6% of men aged 50 years and older reported having had multiple partners in the 12 months prior to the survey. Only 15% of those men reported using a condom at last sex [10]. In another study, older adults were one-sixth as likely to use condoms and one-fifth as likely to seek testing in comparison to people in their twenties [66].
- 42. Studies have shown that older people have lower levels of knowledge about HIV compared to younger people (even among young people knowledge remains low). This is of particular concern as people over 50 remain sexually active and at risk of HIV. In addition, with the roll out of ARVs, more people living with HIV are living longer. Older people are often regarded as influential community members and leaders and play an important role as caregivers and educators. Many older people act as gatekeepers of information for the young adults and children they care for, reinforcing attitudes and normative behavior in societies [67].
- 43. Data shows that condom usage declines with age despite evidence that older adults living with HIV engage in unprotected insertive sex. The challenges that older men face to sustain an erection contribute to lack of condom use. Older women living with HIV report that because they are post-menopausal, their male partners do not perceive the need to use a condom [68].
- 44. People aged 50 and older are less likely to have been tested for HIV and are less likely to have spoken to their partners about HIV. Despite the apparent sexual activity of people aged 50 and over, healthcare providers infrequently discuss HIV infection or offer HIV testing to this age cohort.
- 45. Women aged 50 and older may not perceive themselves at risk of HIV despite having moderate to high levels of lifetime risk and exposure [69] and HIV testing is not routinely

¹⁵ uncertainty bounds [75,000-130,000]

¹⁶ uncertainty bounds [35,000-59,000] ¹⁷ uncertainty bounds [41,000-69,000]

offered. In a survey carried out in nine sites in West, East and Southern Africa, general HIV awareness was found to be very low among women 50 years and older [67]. Even where they may have general knowledge about HIV and HIV transmission, they have much less knowledge about their own personal risks [70]. Midlife women are more likely than younger women to have had changes in relationship status, for example divorce, separation, or death of a partner, and as such may acquire new partners after a long period of not having a partner [71]. Older women who have new relationships (6 months or shorter) were more likely to report having multiple partners [72]. These women may be less likely to discuss protection against HIV, and in general find sexual communication challenging [73].

Women living with HIV aged 50 and over

- 46. Women living with HIV aged 50 and over face specific health and social challenges that require careful consideration. The increasing burden of cervical cancer among women living with HIV, associated with human papillomavirus infection, requires specific attention, particularly given the availability of effective human papillomavirus vaccine, and the availability of feasible and cost-effective approaches to screening and treatment for precancerous lesions.
- 47. Peri-menopausal and menopausal women have particular biological and social vulnerabilities. For instance, biological changes can put sexually active older women at higher risk of acquiring HIV. The wall of the vagina thins after menopause, which increases the chances of lesions and tears, thereby increasing the risk of HIV transmission during sex [74].
- 48. Women living with HIV appear to lose ovarian function earlier in life than HIV-negative women and are also at increased risk of developing chronic age-related conditions such as cardiovascular disease [75] and impaired cognitive function [76]. Women living with HIV demonstrate reduced bone density, which may be caused by a combination of altered nutritional status, hormonal function and body composition [77].
- 49. Menopause aggravates the ageing process in women, and post-menopausal women are at a greater risk than men for complications since the loss of sex hormones contributes to immune dysregulation and senescence (the condition or process of deterioration with age) [76].
- 50. For the most vulnerable women, such as those living in poverty and women who use drugs, the issues are further heightened. For example, drug use and poverty are related to more severe menopausal symptoms and chronic stress is related to worse psychological and cardiovascular risk [75]. It is therefore imperative that more attention is given to how menopause interacts with HIV infection and then communicated to clinicians so they can appropriately diagnose and treat women living with HIV during the menopausal transition [75].
- 51. Achieving full sexual health involves more than merely addressing vulnerabilities and risks and treating clinical conditions. The sexual needs, desires and behaviours of older women need to be acknowledged and respected, regardless of their marital status or sexual orientation [78].

- 52. There are differences in the sexual risk taking between older men and women living with HIV. For instance, 72% of older heterosexual men were sexually active, compared to 36% of older gay men and other men who have sex with men/ bisexual men, and 21% of older heterosexual women, but the heterosexual men reported slightly lower rates of irregular condom use than the other two groups [79]. Older women had more difficulty having a sexual relationship after their HIV diagnosis [80]. Older women, particularly those who are widowed or single, may find it embarrassing or difficult to procure condoms or to seek advice on safe sexual practices [78].
- 53. Intimate partner violence in older women living with HIV can lead to physical injuries from which recovery can be complicated and also psychological distress for which they may be less likely to seek help [81]. Among older women, intimate partner violence is associated with greater risk for HIV. This includes a history of STIs, multiple partners and sexual risk behaviours in partners. Women of all ages experience multiple forms of discrimination based on their sex, as a result of unequal power relations between men and women and this discrimination can be exacerbated as women age. It is a major obstacle for women in accessing HIV prevention, treatment and care and support. Behavioural interventions for older women living with or at risk of HIV need to take into consideration the dynamics of power and oppression that are often present, particularly in heterosexual relationships [69], as well as at the institutional levels.
- 54. Unequal distribution of caregiving responsibilities present a unique challenge for older women living with HIV. As a result of weak health systems, countries rely on home-based care where millions of older women are caring for adult and young children, including elderly parents or relatives. For the most part this work is unpaid and unrecognized [82]. Caregiving can contribute to fatigue, financial burden and also increase the overall mental, psychological, emotional and physical stress on older women living with HIV [83] The stigma surrounding HIV can reduce the social support available to caregivers, increasing their risk of burnout and isolation [23].

Action to Promote the Legal Empowerment of Women in the Context of HIV in Cameroon, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zimbabwe In many parts of sub-Saharan Africa, discriminatory laws, customs, and traditions may negatively impact on women's rights, opportunities, and access to resources or services. These inequalities increase women's risk of HIV infection, as well as diminishing their ability to access care, support, and treatment. Older women living with HIV, and women living with HIV in general, are vulnerable to property and inheritance rights violations due to widespread stigma, and in some cases they may be stripped of their assets, and forcibly evicted from their land and homes. This may be worsened among widows and older women living with HIV, who are often blamed for the AIDS-related deaths of their husbands. UN Women has implemented the "Action to Promote the Legal Empowerment of Women in the Context of HIV and AIDS" programme with support from the Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade, and Development of the Government of Canada. To date, it has awarded \$2.2 million in small grants to 20 legal services organisations, community-based organizations, grassroots networks, and organisations of women living with HIV in Cameroon, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Nigeria, Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zimbabwe. The programme's aims were to: 1) increase the number of legal frameworks and processes that effectively promote and protect women's property and inheritance rights in the context of HIV; 2) strengthen the enabling environment for promoting and protecting women's property and inheritance rights at the community level; and 3) work with local groups and NGOs to help women living with HIV, including older women, to better claim and advocate for their property and inheritance rights. 130,774 people

living with or affected by HIV in the target countries now have increased access to information about women's legal, property, and inheritance rights, 85% of whom are women. Eight of the programme's grantee organisations made progress towards changing national-level legal frameworks and legal procedures regarding women's property and inheritance rights in their countries, whilst five grantee projects directly challenged customary laws, or tried in their activities to enforce legislation protecting women. UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

- 55. There is a need for specific research for women ageing with HIV that includes examining menopause, hormone replacement therapy, the impact of ART and other age related shifts such as cognitive changes. Research into older women's sexuality should include data about sexual choice, behaviour and condom use. Research on gender-related barriers in accessing HIV knowledge, testing, treatment, care and support is also needed, as well as a better understanding of the interactions, risks and benefits of using ARVs together with hormone replacement therapy [69].
- 56. The International Community of Women Living with HIV (ICW) recently called for action to fight ageism and ensure that women living with HIV have the opportunity to age gracefully, healthy and well [84]. They urged leaders to: address sexist ageism and gender inequality within the HIV response; consult directly with older women living with HIV to understand their needs concerns, values and perspectives; prioritise research on older women with HIV and provide data dis-aggregated by age and gender; strengthen health systems to ensure quality HIV and other health systems throughout the life span; ensure the sustainable development goals do not leave older women living with HIV behind and prioritise and invest in a rights-based approach to sustainable universal health care for older women living with HIV.

Key populations

57. Among ageing key populations of sex workers, people who use drugs, gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender and people in prisons, the data is even more scarce but nonetheless alarming. Key populations of all ages are at much higher risk of HIV, often due to a combination of socio-legal factors including stigma, discrimination, prohibitive laws and policies and lack of services. People who inject drugs aged 18-49 are 24 times more likely to acquire HIV than adults in the general population, gay men and other men who have sex with men aged 15-49 are 24 times more likely to acquire HIV, sex workers aged 18-49 are 10 times more likely to acquire HIV, transgender people are 49 times more likely to be living with HIV, and prisoners are five times more likely to be living with HIV than adults in the general population [85]. It is projected that this increased risk also exists for older people of key populations. The impact of ageing with HIV among migrants and displaced populations should also be considered. There is overwhelming evidence to suggest that the mental and physical health of lesbian, gay men and other men who have sex with men, bisexual and transgender people is poorer than that of their heterosexual counterparts, with associated consequences for the lifespan that include higher risk of lifelimiting and life-threatening diseases such as cardiovascular disease and obesity. Key populations such as people who use drugs and sex workers continue to face punitive legal environments, often experience human rights abuses and have poor access to services. They are almost universally criminalized. In many low- and middle-income countries, the majority of people who use drugs living with HIV lag far behind other people living with HIV in accessing life-saving HIV treatment due to factors such as high levels of self and societalstigma, discrimination and criminalization. Key populations experience higher rates of

mental distress and are more vulnerable to higher rates of smoking and alcohol consumption [86].

- 58. Globally, gay men and other men who have sex with men continue to be at significantly increased risk for HIV infection, across the age spectrum. Studies have shown that many gay men and other men who have sex with men do not disclose their sexual orientation or risk behaviors to health care providers and one study found that those who disclosed were twice as likely to have been tested for HIV [87]. Many older HIV-positive gay men and other men who have sex with men continue to be sexually active, and a number report high risk behaviors, including high rates of unprotected sex and drug use [88]. As noted, depression is common in older adults living with HIV [5] and in HIV-positive gay men and other men who have sex with men moderate levels of depression have been associated with ongoing sexual risk behavior [89]. Recent WHO guidance outlines recommendations for key populations, including men who have sex with men [90].
- 59. Transgender people experience exclusion, discrimination, violence and lack of access to appropriate care [55]. A large proportion of transgender women engage in selling sex, which has been significantly associated with homelessness, low levels of education, drug use and a perceived lack of social support. As they age, transgender people therefore report higher rates of disability, general poor health, depression, anxiety, loneliness and suicidal ideation. Many transgender elders enter their later years with severe health concerns yet without the social and community supports necessary to address them [91]. Many health workers not only lack the knowledge to deal with the clinical issues associated with ageing but also the awareness of the needs of key populations, such as transgender people. For transgender women, little research has been done on the interaction between PrEP, ARVs and feminizing hormones remains a significant concern for transgender women who prioritise hormone use over antiretroviral therapy [92].
- 60. A French study found that the prevalence of HIV was almost five times higher among older people who use drugs than younger people who use drugs and for people with HCV twice as high [93]. Treatment for infectious diseases is also more problematic for older people who use drugs. In addition, they are disproportionately affected by failure of treatment for hepatitis C. This is because treatment of this disease is less effective when it is started at an older age, due to the deterioration of the immune response associated with ageing. This highlights the need for wider access to hepatitis C testing and treatment, so that treatment can start at a younger, asymptomatic age when there is a better immune response [94].
- 61. A recent study in Europe looking at national data on opioid substitution treatment found that in some countries more than half of the clients are aged 40 or more. In the most recent data, this age group accounted for 26.5 % of all reported drug-induced deaths. Drug-induced deaths can be direct, including overdoses, and indirect, including those due to other causes, such as AIDS, traffic accidents, violence, suicide and chronic health problems caused by repeated use of drugs (e.g. cardiovascular problems). [94]. Where harm reduction services do exist, they are often offered by younger people who may not understand the specific needs and concerns of older people using drugs who may also be living with HIV.
- 62. Older female sex workers may be at higher risk of HIV than their younger peers. A recent study of female sex workers in Guangxi, China suggested a significantly higher rate of HIV among this group compared to their younger peers [95]. However, very little research has been conducted into the behavioural risk factors. Older female sex workers may be

disadvantaged compared to younger sex workers. They may be more likely to work in less protected environments where HIV risk is much higher [96]. In addition, with families to support, increased financial pressure may make older female sex workers more willing to have unprotected sex for more money or to accept clients who are at high risk of HIV [97].

- 63. For people in prisons, issues of ageing with HIV are particularly challenging. For example, a 50-year old prisoner is likely to have the health problems of a 60-year old person living in a community. Older prisoners suffer chronic and multiple health problems including physical and mental conditions. Older prisoners living with HIV are likely to face even greater health challenges without adequate access to appropriate medical services [98]. Key population offenders, in particular lesbian, bisexual, gay men and other men who have sex with men and transgender (LGBT) people are more likely to suffer from STIs, including HIV, drug use related problems and other health conditions. Rape in prisons also significantly raises the risk of acquiring HIV among LGBT prisoners, who are the most likely victims of rape [98].
- 64. In a review of over 100 studies, low social protection access by key HIV populations in lowincome countries was reported [99]. Although adequate data around key populations is limited, the need for specific strategies to support key populations living with HIV aged 50 and older is clear.

Children born with and getting older with HIV

Ageing is also relevant for children born with HIV, who are now able to grow older due to expanded access to ART. As a result of scaled-up HIV prevention services there was a 70% decline in the number of new HIV infections among children between 2000 and 2015. Despite this significant progress, the number of children becoming newly infected with HIV remains unacceptably high. About 150,000¹⁸ children became infected with HIV in 2015 [3]. Of the 1.8¹⁹ million children less than age 15 living with HIV, 86% live in sub-Saharan Africa, 11% live in Asia and the Pacific and the remaining 3% are situated in the rest of the world [3]. The majority of the 1.8²⁰ million HIV-positive children globally have perinatally acquired HIV. An estimated 640,000 of those children are aged 10-14.

Ageing with HIV is an issue that requires particular attention for this group who have been on ART for long periods of time and have substantial challenges as they age around mental health, reproductive health and child bearing for girls, disclosure and early onset of comorbidities. Children born with HIV not only deal with their own illness but are also highly affected living in a family with HIV. Children born with HIV experience a range of negative consequences that affect health, cognitive development, education, child mental health, exposure to abuse and adolescent risk behaviour, including sexual risk behavior, all of which have implications for HIV-prevention and support efforts [100].

ART is not curative which means that a young adult or a child born with HIV will need to take expensive and potentially toxic drugs for several decades or their whole life - this poses challenges for the individual and the health-care system [38]. A UNICEF report from Asia Pacific found that across the region, many children and adolescents living with HIV may be on sub- optimal treatment regimens, such as those that include use of d4T, that can contribute to a poorer quality of life, result in harsh side effects (including those which have physical manifestations associated with HIV such as lipodystrophy), and can contribute to treatment resistance and failure. Political will, updated pediatric guidelines and effective drug procurement and supply management are all important issues in ensuring young people ageing with HIV have access to optimal treatments [101].

¹⁸ uncertainty bounds [110,000 – 190,000]

¹⁹ uncertainty bounds [1.5 million – 2.0 million] ²⁰ uncertainty bounds [1.5 million – 2.0 million]

Recent systematic reviews found evidence of cognitive delay in children both infected and affected by HIV **[102]**. This affects all domains of development including expressive and receptive language, memory, information processing, visual-spatial tasks, executive functioning and decision-making. The causal pathways for cognitive delay however, are yet unclear as to how much can be attributed to family background factors and how much could be related to antiretroviral exposure.

Children born with HIV go through the same stages of development in terms of adolescence into adulthood compared to their HIV-negative peers, but have many issues to face living with HIV including disclosure, stigma, illness, treatment adherence and side effects, sexual reproductive health, childbearing and parenting. They will experience different issues at different stages of development and interventions are required at all stages. Interventions to support perinatally-infected young people disclose their status has been identified as an urgent need **[103]**. A number of useful strategies and publications to support children born with HIV are referenced in a UNICEF document titled 'Lost in Transition' **[101]**. Sexual reproductive health is particularly important, as in addition to the need for regular comprehensive sexuality education about safe sex, relationships, STIs and unplanned pregnancy, these young people are experiencing their sexuality for the first time as people living with HIV. This is particularly important when considering the mental health needs of young people already susceptible to depression and struggling to cope.

The importance of social protection programmes has been highlighted by some studies pointing to the HIV prevention benefit of a basket of social protection including school feeding, cash transfers, school counselors, transport provision, food gardens and others **[104]**. It is also important to look at resilience and coping in children born with HIV and living in HIV-affected families **[100]**.

HEALTH, SOCIAL AND STRUCTURAL RESPONSES TO AGEING AND HIV

Health sector responses

- 65. People aged 50 and over living with HIV are at increased risk of developing a broad spectrum of non-communicable diseases as a consequence of their HIV infection or as a result of side-effects from long-term treatment or ageing. This requires complex clinical and psychosocial management that pose a challenge to health systems in every country in the world.
- 66. Treating HIV as a chronic illness presents substantial challenges for health systems and includes uninterrupted access to ART, ensuring adherence and retention in care and dealing with multiple comorbidities. All of this requires a well-resourced and well-functioning health-care system [105]. Health-care systems in regions where most people with HIV live were designed to provide acute care only and are not well prepared or equipped to provide the chronic care and deal with the complex care and treatment that is now required [38]. Separating acute from chronic care is an essential step in the transition to a chronic-disease model [38].
- 67. To support preparedness of health systems transitioning to chronic care models and dealing with non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in general, the global, national and community responses to the HIV have valuable lessons to share. Many low- and middle-income countries have already developed and scaled up HIV prevention, care, treatment and support programmes to aid people living with HIV manage a chronic and lifelong condition. Non-communicable disease efforts can be integrated into these existing systems that have

already been strengthened by HIV investments [106]. Such approaches integrating NCD care into HIV programmes are already underway in a number of countries.

68. In order to provide the comprehensive chronic care needed to support an ageing population of people living with HIV, greater integration, linking and coordination of HIV services with relevant health areas is needed, such as non-communicable diseases, sexually transmitted infections, broader sexual and reproductive health, substance use disorders, mental health, hepatitis, tuberculosis, blood safety, geriatric care and gender-based violence [4]. Greater integration can potentially reduce costs, improve efficiencies, simplify and streamline care for clients, and most importantly, lead to better outcomes for people living with HIV and lead to strengthened health systems. The model of integration systems, laboratory and diagnostic services, human resource planning and capacity building, procurement and supply chain management, and resource mobilization [4].

Elderly People Living With HIV Programme, Brazil

Elderly people make up around 10.7% of the population of Brazil's São Paulo state, and national debate has taken place around a public health policy to help care for this population and assure the human right to dignity and quality of life. Between the 1980s and 2015, there were approximately 26,600 notified cases of AIDS among people over the age of 50, representing around 10% of all cases during that same period. However, these figures do not take into account those living with HIV who do not yet know their serologic status. The Treatment and Training Reference Centre (CRT) in São Paulo state created the Elderly People Living with HIV programme in 2011, in response to the increasing survival and improved quality of life of people living with HIV, and the rise in the proportion of conditions often associated with ageing, including cardiovascular and kidney diseases, diabetes, and bone disease. This programme prioritises the participation of people living with HIV over the age of 50, who are not yet enrolled in treatment, and focuses on comprehensive care, with input from professionals from related areas, including a geriatrician, a nutritionist, and a clinical pharmacist. However, the personnel involved in the programme are not exclusive to medical care for the 50+ age group, therefore the Centre has limited capacity and only supports attendance of two new patients, and two follow-up visits per week. Since its inception, the programme has reached approximately 350 people (65% male; 35% female), including a 93 year old patient, and it has contributed to knowledge and understanding of the specific needs among elderly people living with HIV. The Centre promotes professional integration and knowledge exchange, as well as creating opportunities to develop partnerships with civil society organisations, aiming to increase HIV testing, counselling, and peer education for the 50+ age group. The programme has helped highlight the shortage of qualified human resources to care for ageing people living with HIV, and also the need to build awareness among healthcare professionals around HIV and ageing.

- 69. People-centred chronic HIV care services should include interventions across the continuum of care, including screening, assessment, monitoring and managing the most common health risks including non-communicable diseases and comorbidities experienced by people living with HIV, especially through primary care. These care services should be age-friendly. Effective pain management, palliative care and end-of-life care are also essential interventions to be included in HIV services [107]. Strengthening linkages, including with non-communicable disease services, will ensure holistic and integrated person-centred care, boosting the impact of programmes overall [107].
- 70. There are a number of elements that must be part of a robust health system to provide adequate HIV prevention and care services. These must ensure people of all ages can access effective HIV prevention services; can get tested, receive and understand their HIV test results; are referred to appropriate HIV prevention services or enrolled in care; are initiated promptly (as soon as possible) on antiretroviral therapy if diagnosed HIV positive;

are retained and adhere to effective treatment; are moved to alternative antiretroviral regimens if treatment fails; and can access chronic and palliative care, including prevention and management of major co-infections, non-communicable diseases and other comorbidities [107].

71. A number of key lessons from the response to HIV include: the active role of international, national and community leadership in cooperating to achieve a broad-based national response [108]; multisectoral national coordination mechanisms to coordinate policy and planning and engaging civil society organization as equal partners in the response. Integrating non-communicable disease services into the relatively well-developed HIV delivery systems in low- and middle-income countries offers some unique and important benefits [106].

Strategies for healthy living

72. WHO guidelines clearly state that strategies for the prevention and risk reduction of cardiovascular diseases and associated risk factors, such as high blood pressure, smoking, obesity, unhealthy diet and lack of physical activity should be applied to all people living with HIV [21]. HIV chronic care should include integrated interventions such as dietary counselling and support, nutrition assessment, smoking cessation, exercise promotion, blood pressure and cholesterol management as this can both reduce the risks of non-communicable diseases and improve treatment outcomes for people living with HIV [109].

Health, Wealth, and Happiness, UK

A 2010 report by the Terrence Higgins Trust (THT), Age UK, and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation highlighted the many disadvantages faced by older people living with HIV, ranging from poorer health, social care issues, and housing problems. This led to creation of the Health, Wealth, and Happiness programme in 2012. The programme supports the financial, emotional, and physical wellbeing of people over 50 living with HIV across 5 major cities in the UK, aiming to increase resilience to manage key life transitions. Example activities include peer support to address isolation and loneliness, provision of accredited financial advice across a range of areas, counselling and emotional support, and HIV training for mainstream organisations around HIV and ageing. The programme also aims to inform policy and practice through lobbying and campaigning using project evidence. The pilot programme worked with 192 people in London, and its national expansion has supported over 730 people. Among these, 328 older people living with HIV to date have been reconnected with their communities, made new social connections, and developed peer networks. 350 older people living with HIV have been supported by the programme's accredited advisors around welfare and financial matters, with a total of £430,000 in financial benefits for older people living with HIV being accessed in year 2 alone. In addition to these supports, the programme has also supported older people living with HIV to become peer mentors through mobilisation and skills building, to support those who are less able. Furthermore, 82 organisations have been provided with training to build their understanding of the needs of older people living with HIV, and ways to support them. THT has coordinated the programme, in partnership with the George House Trust in Manchester. The programme's third, and final, year has been financed by the UK National Lottery's Big Lottery Fund. Key factors contributing to the programme's success include its peer-led approach, and its access to a large network of partner organisations to provide expertise. However, challenges remain, such as changes occurring in the landscape of social care and welfare are now significantly impacting clients both financially, and in terms of care.

73. Interventions for smoking cessation need to be prioritized, to prevent increases in smokingrelated mortality that will be seen as the population of people living with HIV on treatment ages [26]. This is particularly significant given the cardiovascular risk for people living with HIV, a risk that increases with age.

Ageing with HIV – A Life Cycle Approach, European AIDS Treatment Group (EATG)

Many gaps persist in research and policy around care for people living with HIV as they age, and in getting that information to clinicians, policymakers, and people living with HIV themselves. Recognising this, the European AIDS Treatment Group developed a project to improve access to resources and support, and increase awareness to help mobilise action at local and national levels. It also aimed to provide networking opportunities for establishing collaborative efforts to advocate for priorities on HIV and ageing. The project addressed three age bands: people living with HIV aged 50+; children and young people under the age of 25 born with HIV or infected with HIV at an early age; and people aged 25-50 who have been living with HIV for more than 10 years. Activities included stakeholder meetings focusing on each age band, providing an overview on the latest research as well as networking opportunities. Communications media such as webinars and the project's website were used to distribute information, training packages, resource documents, stakeholder meeting reports, and policy recommendations. 116 people have attended the webinars to date, whilst the project's website (www.ageingwithhiv.com) has over 3,800 users, and information shared on its Facebook page has reached 8,669 people across 27 countries. A 3-day conference was held titled "New Challenges and Unmet Needs of People Living with HIV/AIDS Aged 50+" to identify knowledge gaps and formulate actions, focusing on testing for over 50s, disclosure and stigma, wellbeing and quality of life, and palliative care. The conference gathered 85 attendees from 34 countries. A major strength of the project has been its partnership between clinicians, researchers, experts, and people living with HIV and the value of engaging people living with HIV in the development and delivery of programmes.

UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

Living Longer with HIV in Asia Pacific, The Asia Pacific Network of PLHIV (APN+)

The Asia Pacific Network of PLHIV (APN+) conducted research, to identify issues affecting ageing people living with HIV in the region, and inform policy and programming to help address their needs. To date, this has been the only project of its kind undertaken, with the research being conducted by people living with HIV themselves. The research aimed to 1) raise awareness and encourage discussion among people living with HIV in the Asia Pacific region around living longer with HIV; 2) create a body of knowledge around ageing with HIV within the region's culture and social context; 3) inform advocacy on good practice in responses around HIV and ageing; and 4) lead a positive community-centred response on living longer with HIV in the region. The programme was designed after wide community consultation, and research was conducted using an online. 360 individuals responded, drawn from 21 countries across the region. Results showed that only 60% of respondents were on treatment, with many having difficulty in accessing care; less than half of those who were on treatment had undetectable viral load; 43% of the respondents were suffering from depression, and there was also a high incidence of high blood pressure, non-depressive mental illness, sexuallytransmitted infections, as well as moderate levels of kidney disease and cancers. Almost half of the respondents had not used any protection at their last sexual encounter. The majority of respondents were also experiencing economic difficulties. The research highlighted the fact that many ageing people living with HIV face health challenges which, although not directly stemming from HIV or its treatment, are inseparably linked to living with HIV. A key success factor was the involvement of older people living with HIV in the design and implementation of the project. The research provided strong evidence to help inform advocacy by national people living with HIV networks to call on their governments and other institutions for action. The current challenge is to secure further funding to implement recommendations.

- 74. Nutritional interventions can improve the quality and span of life as well as support the effectiveness of medications and improve the person's resistance to infections [27]. In order to prevent frailty and improve immune parameters, preventive actions could include multiple strategies that include medical management, improving nutritional outcomes and increasing physical activity are important and include ARVs, treatment of confections, nutritional counselling, nutritional supplements, providing pharmacologic agents to stimulate appetite and exercise [30].
- 75. Palliative care remains a critical component of a comprehensive health sector response, helping to ensure dignity and comfort for people in managing their pain and other symptoms [107]. Although the prognosis is much better than ever before if treated with ART, HIV still causes death, particularly with late diagnosis and when people with HIV become frail, accumulate multiple morbidities and have to make end-of-life decisions without prior discussions with professionals [110]. Core interventions in HIV palliative care include the management of symptoms such as fatigue and pain, treatment of adverse effects such as nausea and vomiting, provision of psychosocial support, advance care planning and end of life care. A palliative approach to HIV care has been shown to support better patient outcomes and to improve adherence to ART [110].
- 76. Ensuring integrated and joint HIV and tuberculosis programming in countries with the highest burden of tuberculosis and HIV co-infection strengthens integration, enhances access to life-saving interventions, and at the same time maximizes efficient use of resources [107]. A recent MSF report highlighted the importance of proving systematic and free HIV testing and services within TB services, general hospital services and in therapeutic feeding centres [111].

HIV risk reduction and prevention for people aged 50 and above

- 77. For people aged 50 and above at risk of acquiring HIV, ensuring various options for HIV prevention and testing are made widely available should be a key strategy. Combination HIV prevention should include comprehensive sexuality education, male and female condoms, behaviour change communication, male circumcision and harm reduction for people who use drugs. In order to increase access to and uptake of testing, self-testing and improve linkages to care, clinic-based and innovative and targeted community testing strategies will be necessary. Community responses can also include 'know your status among 50+' in advocacy and programme efforts. Targeted prevention education efforts need to be prioritized that include information about pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and treatment as prevention (TasP) for ageing populations with HIV.
- 78. Comprehensive sexual and reproductive health and sexuality education and services specifically targeting people over aged 50 are not widely available. A systematic review including twelve studies highlighted possible programmes to reach older adults with HIV including use of older adults as peer educators for sexual education, providing training in sexuality counseling for an older age group and increased use of internet and mobile phone for education and support [112].
- 79. A number of responses at different levels are needed, including improved access to testing and an expansion of ART services to identify, target, retain and treat older individuals. This will ensure timely initiation of older people acquiring HIV start on ART and help respond to the issue of reduced immune reconstitution.

Structural interventions, including those addressing stigma and discrimination

- 80. Structural interventions are urgently required to address the underlying causes of vulnerability, inequality and inequities faced by older women and men living with HIV and to create an enabling environment for HIV prevention, care and support; this is of particular importance for key populations, including those living with HIV. There is a specific need for programmes that promote human rights, remove punitive laws and practices, and that tackle stigma and self-stigma, gender-based discrimination and gender-based violence.
- 81. To better support people ageing with HIV, there is an ongoing need for education and antistigma interventions [62]. Interventions to reduce and cope with stigma, self-stigma and shame should include programmes in health care institutions, in schools for children living with HIV, in workplaces for people aged 50 and above living with HIV, and in elderly care homes and the community for older men and women living with HIV.

HIV & Older Adults: Working Together Across Canada

A needs assessment conducted by Realize (formerly the Canadian Working Group on HIV and Rehabilitation) found that only 22% of service providers offered sexual health education for older adults, and only 14% offered support programming targeted towards the needs of people living with HIV who are over 50 years of age. 70% of respondents had never received any training on HIV and ageing. To address this need, the Working Together project was developed, via collaboration with advisory committees comprising over a dozen stakeholders. It aimed to increase knowledge of the needs of older adults living with or vulnerable to HIV. facilitate the delivery of high-quality care, and reduce HIV and ageing-related stigma, among service providers. The intervention takes the form of an interactive workshop co-facilitated by a national trainer and a local service provider and/ or an older adult living with HIV, in addition to four online self-study modules. 37 learners took part in the course pilot in 2014, and in 2016, 90 participants from three cities engaged in a revised version of the course. Average scores for HIV-related prejudice, stereotyping, and discrimination all decreased, and several participants self-reported feeling more comfortable and confident providing care and services for clients with HIV following taking part in the intervention. Participants reported increased confidence in their ability to help older adults living with HIV to navigate the health and social service systems, and increased confidence in their ability to recognise the signs of poor mental health among older adults living with HIV. Contributing factors to the programme's success include adequate allocation of staff time and resources to evidence-based course development and technical support, and attention being paid to identifying strategies for participant engagement and retention. The use of a web-based format also helped provide flexibility, allowing learners to study at their own pace, and schedule learning around other responsibilities. The engagement of an advisory committee throughout the course was instrumental to its development and monitoring and evaluation.

Directory of Promising Programmes and Services for Older People Living with HIV in Canada

Coordinated by the Toronto HIV/AIDS Network, seven agencies came together to develop a directory of available programmes and services for older people living with HIV. A cross-sectoral committee, including people living with HIV, was formed to conduct a needs assessment of older people living with HIV and a review of existing service systems used by this population. The aim was to develop coordinated models of care for ageing people living with HIV focused on improved health outcomes and sustaining stable housing. A directory was produced that included existing and promising programmes and services that include health, home and practical care, support groups, educational and informational programmes and national coordination activities.

More information is available at: http://bit.ly/2e4nqCl

Equipping healthcare providers

82. Complex treatment needs in people aged 50 and over living with HIV co-infections and comorbidities makes geriatric and gerontological education an urgent need among health and social care professionals, community health workers and should be included in medical education at under- and post-graduate levels. Healthcare providers may fail to recognize the clinical manifestations of advanced HIV infection in people aged 50 and over, that can present as encephalopathy and wasting syndrome [18]. A study in the US found that when people aged 50 and over are hospitalized with *pneumocystis liroveci* (PCP), one of the most common AIDS-defining opportunistic infections, they are less likely to be evaluated for HIV infection, less likely to receive timely PCP prophylaxis and treatment and are less likely to survive hospitalization [113]. While training in geriatric and gerontological health care is already been provided in countries such as Cambodia, Cameroon, Canada, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Nigeria and South Africa [23], there are fewer than 25 geriatric clinicians in all of sub-Saharan Africa, and in most of the region's countries there are none [114]. Clinicians in HIV service organizations typically do not receive ongoing education about the complexity of HIV in older patients [114].

Age-friendly Primary Health Care Centres Toolkit, WHO Kenya

WHO has developed a toolkit to assist health care workers in the diagnosis and management of the chronic diseases and the four areas that often impact people as they age: memory loss, urinary incontinence, depression and falls/immobility. The toolkit's purpose is to:

• Improve the primary health care response for older persons.

· Sensitize and educate primary health care workers about the specific needs of their older clients.

Provide primary care health workers with a set of tools/instruments to assess older people's health.
Raise awareness among primary care health workers of the accumulation of minor/major

disabilities experienced by older people.

• Provide guidance on how to make primary health care management procedures more responsive to the needs of older people's needs.

• Offer direction on how to do environmental audits to test primary health care centres for their agefriendliness.

The toolkit comprises a number of instruments including evaluation forms, slides, country guidelines, and screening tools that can be used by primary health care workers to assess and address older persons' health.

Source: http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Age-Friendly-PHC-Centre-toolkitDec08.pdf

Ageing and health-management programmes addressing HIV in Latin America and the Caribbean

To address the primary health-care challenges, including HIV, that accompany the ageing population, the Pan-American Health Organization (PAHO) has partnered with the Inter-American Centre for Social Security Studies (CIESS) and the Latin American Academy of Medicine for Older Persons (ALMA) to increase human resources in primary health care for older persons in Latin America and the Caribbean.

Specialization in health management of seniors

This regional initiative develops leadership in ageing and health to better align policies and health services with the needs of older adults. The programme is a theoretical and practical, online education course aimed at current managers and professionals interested in managing programmes and services for older persons and seeking to improve their skills in quality health management for the older population. Managers undertaking the training receive accreditations leading to better management of services and the establishment of minimum standards in the selection and evaluation of administrators of programmes and health services for older people in the region. Between 2009 and 2012, 128 students of various professions from 14 countries in the Americas graduated with the specialization, which is available in Spanish, Portuguese and English.

Master's programme in ageing and health management

PAHO and CIESS have promoted the organization of the University Consortium in Public Health and Ageing with more than 18 universities. The Master's programme was created to train competent, motivated, and skilled professionals capable of seeking viable solutions to the health problems of the older adult population. The focus is on finding formulas for promoting health and preventing disabling diseases, including living healthy with HIV, and improving the quality of life of this population group, and anticipating the demographic, epidemiological, economic, environmental and current health challenges.

By encouraging collaboration between universities and schools of public health in the region, the Master's programme promotes integration, continuity and complementarity with the specialization course and increases the human resources available to address the primary health-care needs of the ageing population [23].

Sustaining ARV production, procurement and delivery

83. The costs of providing ARV treatment to support an ageing population with HIV are considerable and need to be factored into national budget planning and financing. Globally, people living with HIV aged 50 and over will increase from an estimated 5.8 million²¹ in 2015 to an estimated 8.5 million²² in 2020 (see Figure 3) [3]. Sustaining ARV treatment coverage for an ageing population of people living with HIV, including key populations living with HIV will require focused efforts and resources.

Figure 3: Men and women living with HIV (aged 50 years and over), globally, 2000–2020



2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates. Projections 2016-2020 are based on an assumed scale-up of ART to reach 81% coverage by 2020.

Social sector responses

6

84. As the number of people aged 50 and over increases, including people living with HIV, so will the need for financial and social support. In sub-Saharan Africa older people are generally cared for and supported within extended families, with a significant burden of care placed on women, and there are currently no or limited pension programmes [115]. This is an important issue for consideration by policy makers as they assess and put in place measures to provide support through existing or new old-age pension and social care systems [46].

²¹ uncertainty bounds [5.4 million - 6.3 million]

²² uncertainty bounds [7.9 million - 9.4 million]

Ugandan Grandmothers Gathering

Across sub-Saharan Africa, many grandmothers now play a key role in providing care for their orphaned grandchildren. They provide leadership, care, and support, whilst themselves overcoming their own challenges of grief, sickness, and poverty. In October 2015, the first National Grandmothers' Gathering was held in Uganda, bringing together 473 grandmothers from across the country to raise national awareness of the issues they face, and to advocate for recognised rights and increased support. The Gathering was led by a dedicated committee of six key Ugandan community-based organisations whose work focuses on grandmothers and their dependents. Taking place over three days, the Gathering acted as a staging ground for grandmothers, and the organisations supporting them, to develop agendas to advance grandmothers' rights in areas such as old age pensions and cash transfers; housing, land and inheritance; protection from violence; and improved access to HIV treatment and care. Members of the Gathering's organising committee also created an NGO, the National Grandmothers' Consortium, with a mandate to follow up on local, regional and government commitments made at the Gathering and to garner continued resources and opportunities for ongoing advocacy by and for grandmothers. The inclusion of community-embedded grassroots organisations was critical to the Gathering's success. These organisations brought considerable expertise to help mobilise logistical and financial support to rapidly stage such a large event, as well as providing ongoing support to grandmothers to attend. In addition, the organising committee was greatly strengthened by inclusion of grandmothers themselves, and the agenda for the Gathering was guided by their input.

- 85. HIV-sensitive social protection is recognized as a key enabler of the AIDS response to reduce the disadvantages, inequities and inequalities that make people vulnerable to HIV and can help in overcoming barriers in access to treatment, reduce HIV risk behaviour and mitigate the impact of HIV on households [99,116]. It is important that people living with HIV aged 50 and above remain part of the productive workforce for as long as possible and are supported to acquire adequate insurance and pension benefits where possible. People living with HIV who are employed are, on average, 39% more likely to continue with ARV treatment than those who are unemployed [99].
- 86. Social protection enhances resilience and supports people ageing with HIV to continue lifelong treatment [117]. A study in Guatemala, Indonesia, Rwanda and Uganda found that even when health/medical insurance and other services are available, there are formidable barriers to access and usage that must be addressed. These barriers are particularly challenging for people living with HIV and key populations. Across all four countries, social protection is closely linked to the formal economy and yet 61% of people living with HIV and other key populations worked in the informal economy and 7% were unemployed. Barriers to access and uptake of social protection include lack of information about available types of social assistances or services; complex procedures to access social protection; discrimination and self-stigma; the cost of living with HIV [99]. The most common social protection benefit was health insurance schemes and free access to medical care.

Seniors Fulfil Their Dream While Knowing Their Rights: Building Capacity for Promoting Older People's Rights and Income Security in Thailand

Building capacity for promoting older people's rights and income security in Thailand, in cooperation with the Older People's Group (OPA) in Ban Thi District, Lamphun Province, organized a volunteer team which works with government agencies to promote knowledge about older people's rights and to encourage, monitor, and protect those rights. The project operates in 10 pilot villages, comprising a total of 4,838 people, among whom there are 870 (393 male; 477 female) older persons. Each village has an older person's club, and the project engages 150 of the older people to drive club activities to address problems and needs of older people living with or affected by HIV. Following a participatory needs assessment, the Foundation for Older Persons' Development provided seed money for members to start income generating activities. Club members were trained on project management, including monitoring and evaluation, proposal formulation, narrative report writing, basic financial management and reporting. Workshop-style meetings are used to help educate older people around their rights and entitlements in accordance with Thailand's Older Persons Act of 2003, and provide information around daily living, access to health services, and the Elderly fund provided by the government. The volunteer team also disseminates information via word of mouth during special occasions such as Buddhist holidays. As a result of the project, older people have been empowered to access health services, and to negotiate with government organizations for funding to support their groups. The work of the older people's groups has been recognized by local authority and provincial government departments, and the OPA has acted as a testing ground for the integration of community-based age care in systems for health, and to generate better understanding of the needs of families of people living with HIV. The project has been successful in reducing isolation among older people living with and affected by HIV, who have been re-engaged in community activities, in particular income-generating activities. The project has highlighted the value of integration of activities and resources with local authorities, community hospitals, and other related government departments. UNAIDS/PCB (39)/16.25 CRP1

87. A number of issues have been identified for people living with HIV aged 50 and over relating to income support, employment and retirement transitions that need to be addressed in social sector policies. For instance, financial uncertainly stemming from the initial belief that people living with HIV did not expect to live long lives (when ART was not available), the uncertainty of transitioning into retirement where chronic illness is expected and the concerns with appropriate long term housing for older adults living with HIV that may also be influenced by social stigma [62]. In addition, the reality of living with episodic illness influences the psychological ability of people to plan longer term. An analysis of life insurance policies for people living with HIV in 23 countries found huge differences in what was available. Some countries have insurance specifically for people living with HIV, others offer insurance on an individual basis where criteria are not clear and high premiums can be expected and others simply do not provide insurance options [118]. Given that the life expectancy of a person living with HIV on ART is nearly the same as that of an HIV-negative person, access to life insurance should be prioritized [119]. As social isolation is a risk factor for ageing in general, it is important to develop programmes to promote social interaction and support for those ageing with HIV [62].

National responses to ageing populations living with HIV, Ethiopia, Mozambique, Thailand, Cambodia, Tanzania, Kenya, Botswana, US

Older people are included in some national strategies and policies on HIV, and HIV is included in some ageing plans and policies. For example, in Ethiopia, older persons are identified as a major group, both as beneficiaries and contributors, within the Strategic Framework for the National Response to HIV/AIDS. Similarly, in Mozambique, ageing is mainstreamed into the National Strategic Plan for HIV/AIDS 2005-2009.

In Thailand, the 10th National AIDS Plan (2007-2011) includes older persons as a specific target group for interventions. In Cambodia, HIV is addressed in the 2003 Policy for the Elderly. Also in South Africa, HIV is addressed in the South Africa Older Persons Policy of 2006. In Tanzania too, specific reference to HIV is made within the National Ageing Policy of 2003. In Kenya, the National Policy on Older Persons and Ageing of 2009 refers to HIV, and persons aged 50 to 64 are included in the Kenya National AIDS Strategic Plan (2009/10-2012/13). Some national surveys are now including prevalence and infection data for people aged 50 and above, including the AIDS Indicator Surveys in Botswana, Kenya and Mozambique.

In the United States, the White House Office of National AIDS Policy has highlighted HIV issues in older Americans. Also in the United States, the Office of AIDS Research within the National Institutes of Health in 2011 set up the Working Group on HIV and Ageing. This has initiated a research programme that includes collecting evidence on mechanisms and triggers of functional decline, predictors and surrogate markers of outcomes, intervention research and societal infrastructure, mental health and substance abuse issues [23].

- 88. Due to the persistent societal norms on women's role in society, older women often find themselves bearing the bulk of the care work in the context of HIV. Older women who provide care should receive targeted economic, technical, and social support. The priorities of caregivers in households and communities must be included in national strategic plans and budgets and should include HIV-sensitive social protection schemes. Safe spaces should be secured for older women living with HIV to engage in the design, implementation and monitoring of the national HIV responses. Leadership skills and capacity of women aged 50 and over living with HIV should be strengthened to organize, participate and access sustainable financing for their work and their lives.
- 89. A longer living population with HIV can support families and society with social cohesion, improved child care and greater flexibility of middle-aged family members to temporarily migrate for more lucrative work opportunities [46].

Older people's associations: harnessing the power of older age, South East Asia

Older people's associations are an innovative approach to taking community-based action. These organizations empower people in later life, using their skills, capacities and willingness to actively engage with and serve their communities. Their importance in promoting the well-being of older people, including those who are poor and disadvantaged, has been recognized by the Association of Southeast Asian Nations, the United Nations, WHO and governments throughout Asia **[120]**. For example, China recently issued a policy promoting the improvement and expansion of their 490 000 associations to align them better with their development goals. Older people's associations are multifunctional and conduct a wide range of activities, the most common of which focus on improving incomes through microcredit and income-generating activities; providing health and care for older people, including through community-care programmes aimed at care-dependent older people; providing social and cultural activities as well as disaster preparedness; and enabling social participation.

The associations may also provide social assistance in the form of money, food and labour for those in the community who are most in need of them. The associations work closely with public authorities not only to ensure that their community members are receiving the services they are entitled to, such as social pensions and health insurance, but also to advocate for the development and expansion of the services and resources provided by the local authorities. The associations also work to ensure their own financial sustainability, and in Viet Nam, associations have demonstrated their capacity to fundraise.

Older people's associations have great potential for fostering Healthy Ageing. For their members, they organize regular health check-ups, carry out health-education activities and regular physical exercise sessions, as well as conveying knowledge about healthy living and preventing and managing noncommunicable diseases. In South East Asia the associations are developing a holistic community-care approach to support the increasing numbers of older people who are highly dependent and need help with activities of daily living, have a limited income or lack adequate care from their families. Community activities include recruiting, training and managing home-care volunteers to provide personal-care assistance to older people who need it. The associations can also help pay for transportation to health stations when required, and offer links to complementary services, such as those that provide assistive devices or rehabilitation. Some associations also mobilize resources and labour to modify and repair homes, and in disaster-prone areas they ensure that all at-risk older people have a designated emergency buddy to support them in times of danger. Older people's associations have been effectively drawing on the resources inherent in older populations to mobilize entire communities **[4]**.

A LIFECYCLE APPROACH TO AGEING WITH HIV: AREAS OF FUTURE ACTION

- 90. Inherent to the SDG target to end the AIDS epidemic by 2030 is the need to focus on populations that have been left behind by the HIV response one of these populations is older people [116].
- 91. It is time to recognize the ageing HIV epidemic in the context of ending AIDS by 2030 and to ensure integrated services for people living with HIV aged 50 and over are available, accessible and appropriately meeting the needs of such a growing number of people to ensure the health of a diverse population of people living with HIV. Moreover, as access to quality treatment expands and countries begin to approach universal access, life expectancy for people living with HIV should continue to increase and potentially reach that for HIV-negative people. Responses to HIV at global and national levels must anticipate the ageing of people living with HIV populations, making the successful shift from acute to integrated, chronic care and ensuring quality and affordable antiretroviral medicines within integrated health systems as well as ensuring the human rights of older people are respected. Based on the analysis presented above, a number of priority areas for action emerge:

Research and development areas

92. To better inform policies and programmes, more research is required to understand ageing with HIV, including: the long-term effects of ART; better understanding of comorbidity related to the ageing process and other co-infections and NCDs; efficacy and modifications of regimens in different age groups; drug resistance; the impact of early or late initiation on ageing; and the body's ageing process with HIV in general for women, for men, for children born with HIV and for key populations.

- 93. There is an urgent need to understand the drivers of HIV incidence among women and men aged 50 and over in order to respond with supportive interventions and policies.
- 94. Investments are needed for research on new and improved ARVs for those on long-term treatment, ideally with less risk of toxicity and drug interactions, as well as investments in research for a cure and vaccine. Clinical trials should involve both women and men.

Age-sensitive strategic information

- 95. To meet the needs of people living and ageing with HIV, age-sensitive and sexdisaggregated strategic information is necessary. Understanding the epidemiology of HIV infection in people aged 50 and over can lead to practical interventions to make the older years safer, more enjoyable [9] and improve general quality of life. Currently, there is a striking lack of surveillance or other strategic information on older men and women living with HIV [121]. National surveys which include the collection of data on HIV prevalence traditionally collect data among women 15-49 and men 15-54 limiting the data available to track prevalence and risk behaviours in the populations ages 50 and older. For example, out of 30 Demographic Health Surveys (DHS) between 2004-2009, only 13 surveys included older males and none included older females [9].
- 96. Sex-disaggregated data on incidence of HIV among people 50 years and older is equally important and also lacking. Incidence could be determined via case reporting, serologic incidence assays or modelling. Developing countries often have limited case-reporting systems, but industrialized countries do better [9]. In addition a number of global indicators that focus on HIV risk behavior, focus on the populations less than age 50.

Health, social and structural responses

- 97. Integration of services related to coinfections and comorbidities is key when considering ageing and HIV. People-centred systems for health and social protection (including food and nutrition, employment) are needed to shift to treating HIV as a chronic illness that requires a lifecycle approach.
- 98. Integrated healthcare for people living with HIV aged 50 and above is needed and should include screening and management of cardiovascular diseases and other NCDs and lifestyle factors such as smoking, alcohol and nutrition. Antiretroviral treatment must be integrated with care systems for other chronic diseases. Health-care providers must be trained to respond to the specific needs and challenges of this population. Health services must respond to the reproductive, ageing and HIV health changes facing women living with HIV over 50.
- 99. There is a need for development of age specific guidelines for HIV. As well as including guidance on HIV clinical management and care, the guidelines should provide recommendations on screening programmes and also additional monitoring of biomarkers, especially from the comorbidities that occur more frequently with age. People aged 50 and over living with HIV could be seen by general health care providers and only referred to HIV specialist clinics when viral loads are unsuppressed or for management of complex co-infections or co-morbidities. In this way, they could also receive integrated care addressing lifestyle, cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases as well as deal with ARV-associated complications such as drug-drug interactions [119].

- 100. Structural interventions including programmes tackling gender inequality, self-stigma, stigma and discrimination, gender-based violence, discrimination faced by key populations and legal rights for older men and women living with HIV in all their diversity should be prioritized.
- 101. Given the high prevalence of depression, as well as alcohol and drug abuse among people living with HIV (including older populations), the impact of these conditions on retention and ART adherence, and the limited availability of treatment for these conditions, it is critical that the health and social sectors develop and implement approaches to address these key mental health challenges. WHO has highlighted recommendations and priorities for action to address the combined challenge of HIV and mental health globally [122].
- 102. Special attention must be given to providing psychological and medical support as well as concrete social protection for people living with HIV over 50 in all their diversity.
- 103. Age appropriate and gender-responsive sexual health and comprehensive sexuality education programmes should be prioritised to support aged 50 and over living with and at risk of HIV.
- 104. Gender-sensitive programmes for key populations living with HIV aged 50 and above must be adapted to be age-appropriate, in particular services that reach women, people who use drugs, sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men and transgender people living with HIV. Age-appropriate harm reduction services are also critical for people who use drugs.
- 105. ART production, procurement, and delivery systems must be strengthened to ensure affordable, adequate and uninterrupted supply of ART to a growing ageing population of people living with HIV.
- 106. In May 2016, WHO Member States adopted the Global Strategy and Action Plan on Ageing and Health 2016-2020 that recommends the establishment of national frameworks towards healthy ageing that include evidence-based policies and combatting ageism; developing age-friendly environments that include fostering older people's automomy, enabling their active participation and promoting multisectoral action; and aligning health systems to the needs of older populations. These are important recommendations towards strengthening the health sector response to HIV and ageing.

Political agenda

- 107. Putting HIV and ageing on the international agenda includes increased political leadership and commitment, an active movement, stronger health systems, a greater commitment to trained human resources and improved clinical infrastructure and expertise and budgets to support research and programmes on older people living with HIV.
- 108. Civil society organisations together with governments can advocate for reduction of high costs of medication for diseases occurring late in life, including many cancers and end-stage organ diseases as they did for ART [114].

Meaningfully engaging and learning from people living with HIV

- 109. Ensuring greater involvement of people living with HIV aged 50 and over in the decisions, strategies and responses to their needs is crucial.
- 110. It is important to focus on the immense strength and resilience of people living with HIV aged 50 and over. Many people living with HIV have learned how to cope with hugely adverse psychological, social and physical challenges and can act as positive role models and leaders to show others how to live positively with HIV.

[End of document]

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO. Sixty-Ninth World Health Assembly, Provisional agenda item 13.4: Multisectoral action for a life course approach to healthy ageing: draft global strategy and plan of action on ageing and health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 2. Officer A, Schneiders ML, Wu D, Nash P, Thiyagarajan JA, Beard JR. Valuing older people: time for a global campaign to combat ageism. Bull World Health Organ. 2016;94: 710–710A.
- 3. UNAIDS. 2016 estimates. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2016.
- 4. World Health Organization. World report on ageing and health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2015.
- Grov C, Golub SA, Parsons JT, Brennan M, Karpiak SE. Loneliness and HIV-related stigma explain depression among older HIV-positive adults. AIDS Care. 2010;22: 630–639. doi:10.1080/09540120903280901
- 6. UNAIDS. HIV and aging: A special supplement to the UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2013.
- Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration. Life expectancy of individuals on combination antiretroviral therapy in high-income countries: a collaborative analysis of 14 cohort studies. Lancet Lond Engl. 2008;372: 293–299. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61113-7
- 8. Balderson BH, Grothaus L, Harrison RG, McCoy K, Mahoney C, Catz S. Chronic illness burden and quality of life in an aging HIV population. AIDS Care. 2013;25: 451–458. doi:10.1080/09540121.2012.712669
- 9. Schmid GP, Williams BG, Garcia-Calleja JM, Miller C, Segar E, Southworth M, et al. The unexplored story of HIV and ageing. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87: 162–162A.
- 10. Shisana O, Rehle T, Simbayi LC, Zuma K, Jooste S, Zungu N, et al. South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence and Behaviour Survey, 2012. Pretoria, South Africa: The Human Sciences Research Council; 2014.
- 11. Lindau ST, Schumm LP, Laumann EO, Levinson W, O'Muircheartaigh CA, Waite LJ. A study of sexuality and health among older adults in the United States. N Engl J Med. 2007;357: 762–774. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa067423
- Sormanti M, Shibusawa T. Predictors of condom use and HIV testing among midlife and older women seeking medical services. J Aging Health. 2007;19: 705–719. doi:10.1177/0898264307301173
- Greig J, Casas EC, O'Brien DP, Mills EJ, Ford N. Association between older age and adverse outcomes on antiretroviral therapy: a cohort analysis of programme data from nine countries. AIDS Lond Engl. 2012;26 Suppl 1: S31-37. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283558446

- 14. Bakanda C, Birungi J, Mwesigwa R, Ford N, Cooper CL, Au-Yeung C, et al. Association of aging and survival in a large HIV-infected cohort on antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Lond Engl. 2011;25: 701–705. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283437ed7
- 15. Cornell M, Grimsrud A, Fairall L, Fox MP, van Cutsem G, Giddy J, et al. Temporal changes in programme outcomes among adult patients initiating antiretroviral therapy across South Africa, 2002-2007. AIDS Lond Engl. 2010;24: 2263–2270. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833d45c5
- 16. Grabar S, Kousignian I, Sobel A, Le Bras P, Gasnault J, Enel P, et al. Immunologic and clinical responses to highly active antiretroviral therapy over 50 years of age. Results from the French Hospital Database on HIV. AIDS Lond Engl. 2004;18: 2029–2038.
- 17. Bendavid E, Ford N, Mills EJ. HIV and Africa's elderly: the problems and possibilities. AIDS Lond Engl. 2012;26 Suppl 1: S85-91. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283558513
- 18. Kirk JB, Goetz MB. Human immunodeficiency virus in an aging population, a complication of success. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57: 2129–2138. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02494.x
- Kaufmann GR, Furrer H, Ledergerber B, Perrin L, Opravil M, Vernazza P, et al. Characteristics, determinants, and clinical relevance of CD4 T cell recovery to <500 cells/microL in HIV type 1infected individuals receiving potent antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2005;41: 361–372. doi:10.1086/431484
- Lacerda HR, Kitner D. Mortality of the elderly is still exceedingly high at diagnosis of AIDS despite favourable outcomes after highly active antiretroviral therapy in Recife, Brazil. Int J STD AIDS. 2008;19: 450–454. doi:10.1258/ijsa.2008.007317
- 21. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection Recommendations for a public health approach Second edition. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 22. Schouten J, Wit FW, Stolte IG, Kootstra NA, van der Valk M, Geerlings SE, et al. Cross-sectional comparison of the prevalence of age-associated comorbidities and their risk factors between HIV-infected and uninfected individuals: the AGEhIV cohort study. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2014;59: 1787–1797. doi:10.1093/cid/ciu701
- 23. United Nations Population Fund. Ageing in the twenty-first century: A celebration and a challenge. New York, USA: United Nations Population Fund; 2012.
- 24. Dryden-Peterson S, Medhin H, Kebabonye-Pusoentsi M, Seage GR, Suneja G, Kayembe MKA, et al. Cancer Incidence following Expansion of HIV Treatment in Botswana. PloS One. 2015;10: e0135602. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135602
- 25. Nasi M, De Biasi S, Gibellini L, Bianchini E, Pecorini S, Bacca V, et al. Ageing and inflammation in patients with HIV infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2016; doi:10.1111/cei.12814
- Helleberg M, May MT, Ingle SM, Dabis F, Reiss P, Fätkenheuer G, et al. Smoking and life expectancy among HIV-infected individuals on antiretroviral therapy in Europe and North America. AIDS Lond Engl. 2015;29: 221–229. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000540

- 27. Somarriba G, Neri D, Schaefer N, Miller TL. The effect of aging, nutrition, and exercise during HIV infection. HIVAIDS Auckl NZ. 2010;2: 191–201. doi:10.2147/HIV.S9069
- Rasmussen LD, Kessel L, Molander LD, Pedersen C, Gerstoft J, Kronborg G, et al. Risk of cataract surgery in HIV-infected individuals: a Danish Nationwide Population-based cohort study. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2011;53: 1156–1163. doi:10.1093/cid/cir675
- 29. Nakanjako D, Otiti-Sengeri J, Ssewanyana I, Nabatanzi R, Bayigga L, Kirimunda S, et al. CD4 T-cell activation and reduced regulatory T-cell populations are associated with early development of cataracts among HIV-infected adults in Uganda. Immunol Lett. 2014;161: 44–49. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2014.04.011
- Enel P, Retornaz F, Petit N, Darque A, Bregigeon S, Ravaux I, et al. Are frailty, precariousness, and comorbidity related in HIV-infected ageing patients? 6th HIV and Aging Workshop; 2015; Washington DC, USA.
- 31. Schaaf HS, Collins A, Bekker A, Davies PDO. Tuberculosis at extremes of age. Respirol Carlton Vic. 2010;15: 747–763. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1843.2010.01784.x
- 32. Singhatiraj E. HIV Co-Infections with Hepatitis B and C. J AIDS Clin Res. 2013;1. doi:10.4172/2155-6113.S3-001
- Platt L, Easterbrook P, Gower E, McDonald B, Sabin K, McGowan C, et al. Prevalence and burden of HCV co-infection in people living with HIV: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16: 797–808. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00485-5
- 34. Soriano V, Vispo E, Fernandez-Montero JV, Labarga P, Barreiro P. Update on HIV/HCV coinfection. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2013;10: 226–234. doi:10.1007/s11904-013-0169-5
- van der Helm J, Geskus R, Sabin C, Meyer L, Del Amo J, Chêne G, et al. Effect of HCV infection on cause-specific mortality after HIV seroconversion, before and after 1997. Gastroenterology. 2013;144: 751–760.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.12.026
- 36. Schuster RM, Gonzalez R. Substance Abuse, Hepatitis C, and Aging in HIV: Common Cofactors that Contribute to Neurobehavioral Disturbances. Neurobehav HIV Med. 2012;2012: 15–34. doi:10.2147/NBHIV.S17408
- Jakovljević M, Ostojić L. Comorbidity and multimorbidity in medicine today: challenges and opportunities for bringing separated branches of medicine closer to each other. Psychiatr Danub. 2013;25 Suppl 1: 18–28.
- 38. Deeks SG, Lewin SR, Havlir DV. The end of AIDS: HIV infection as a chronic disease. Lancet Lond Engl. 2013;382: 1525–1533. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61809-7
- Guaraldi G, Zona S, Brothers TD, Carli F, Stentarelli C, Dolci G, et al. Aging with HIV vs. HIV seroconversion at older age: a diverse population with distinct comorbidity profiles. PloS One. 2015;10: e0118531. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118531

- 40. Sridhar D, Batniji R. Misfinancing global health: a case for transparency in disbursements and decision making. Lancet Lond Engl. 2008;372: 1185–1191. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61485-3
- 41. De Francesco D, Malagoli A, Theou O, Zona S, Carli F, Dolci G, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a "'geriatric HIV'" modeling study. Glasgow, UK; 2016.
- 42. Collaboration of Observational HIV Epidemiological Research Europe (COHERE) Study Group, Sabin CA, Smith CJ, d'Arminio Monforte A, Battegay M, Gabiano C, et al. Response to combination antiretroviral therapy: variation by age. AIDS Lond Engl. 2008;22: 1463–1473. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f88d02
- Mussini C, Manzardo C, Johnson M, Monforte A d'Arminio, Uberti-Foppa C, Antinori A, et al. Patients presenting with AIDS in the HAART era: a collaborative cohort analysis. AIDS Lond Engl. 2008;22: 2461–2469. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e328314b5f1
- 44. Silverberg MJ, Leyden W, Horberg MA, DeLorenze GN, Klein D, Quesenberry CP. Older age and the response to and tolerability of antiretroviral therapy. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167: 684–691. doi:10.1001/archinte.167.7.684
- 45. Boyd M, Emery S, Cooper DA. Antiretroviral roll-out: the problem of second-line therapy. Lancet Lond Engl. 2009;374: 185–186. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61313-1
- 46. Hontelez JAC, de Vlas SJ, Baltussen R, Newell M-L, Bakker R, Tanser F, et al. The impact of antiretroviral treatment on the age composition of the HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2012;26 Suppl 1: S19-30. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283558526
- Justice AC, McGinnis KA, Atkinson JH, Heaton RK, Young C, Sadek J, et al. Psychiatric and neurocognitive disorders among HIV-positive and negative veterans in care: Veterans Aging Cohort Five-Site Study. AIDS Lond Engl. 2004;18 Suppl 1: S49-59.
- 48. Hinkin CH, Castellon SA, Atkinson JH, Goodkin K. Neuropsychiatric aspects of HIV infection among older adults. J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54 Suppl 1: S44-52.
- Kessler RC, Gruber M, Hettema JM, Hwang I, Sampson N, Yonkers KA. Co-morbid major depression and generalized anxiety disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey follow-up. Psychol Med. 2008;38: 365–374. doi:10.1017/S0033291707002012
- 50. Rabkin JG. HIV and depression: 2008 review and update. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2008;5: 163–171.
- Leserman J, Pence BW, Whetten K, Mugavero MJ, Thielman NM, Swartz MS, et al. Relation of lifetime trauma and depressive symptoms to mortality in HIV. Am J Psychiatry. 2007;164: 1707– 1713. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06111775
- 52. Heckman TG, Heckman BD, Kochman A, Sikkema KJ, Suhr J, Goodkin K. Psychological symptoms among persons 50 years of age and older living with HIV disease. Aging Ment Health. 2002;6: 121– 128. doi:10.1080/13607860220126709a

- 53. Forstein M. Depression in the Aging HIV Infected Population Clinical Recommendations. In: HIV and Aging [Internet]. 26 Jan 2016 [cited 5 Nov 2016]. Available: http://hiv-age.org/2016/01/26/depression-in-the-aging-hiv-infected-population/
- 54. Katz IT, Ryu AE, Onuegbu AG, Psaros C, Weiser SD, Bangsberg DR, et al. Impact of HIV-related stigma on treatment adherence: systematic review and meta-synthesis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2013;16: 18640.
- 55. UNAIDS. The Gap Report (2014) [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2014. Available: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en.pdf
- 56. Emlet CA. An examination of the social networks and social isolation in older and younger adults living with HIV/AIDS. Health Soc Work. 2006;31: 299–308.
- Psaros C, Barinas J, Robbins GK, Bedoya CA, Safren SA, Park ER. Intimacy and Sexual Decision Making: Exploring the Perspective of HIV Positive Women Over 50. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2012;26: 755–760. doi:10.1089/apc.2012.0256
- 58. Schrimshaw EW, Siegel K. Perceived barriers to social support from family and friends among older adults with HIV/AIDS. J Health Psychol. 2003;8: 738–752. doi:10.1177/13591053030086007
- 59. Shippy RA, Karpiak SE. Perceptions of Support Among Older Adults With HIV. Res Aging. 2005;27: 290–306. doi:10.1177/0164027504273780
- 60. Karpiak SE, Shippy RA. Research on Older Adults with HIV. New York, USA: AIDS Community Research Initiative of America; 2006.
- 61. Masten J. Managing the Triple Threat: Strategies for Older Gay Men With HIV. ACHIEVE. 20157: 12–15.
- 62. Solomon P, O'Brien K, Wilkins S, Gervais N. Aging with HIV and disability: the role of uncertainty. AIDS Care. 2014;26: 240–245. doi:10.1080/09540121.2013.811209
- 63. Global Alliance for the Rights of Older People. What are older people's rights? [Internet]. [cited 10 Oct 2016]. Available: http://www.rightsofolderpeople.org/what-are-older-peoples-rights/
- 64. Siegel K, Raveis V, Karus D. Perceived Advantages and Disadvantages of Age among Older HIV-Infected Adults. Res Aging. 1998;20: 686–711. doi:10.1177/0164027598206004
- 65. Emlet CA, Tozay S, Raveis VH. "I'm not going to die from the AIDS": resilience in aging with HIV disease. The Gerontologist. 2011;51: 101–111. doi:10.1093/geront/gnq060
- Sankar A, Nevedal A, Neufeld S, Berry R, Luborsky M. What do we know about older adults and HIV? A review of social and behavioral literature. AIDS Care. 2011;23: 1187–1207. doi:10.1080/09540121.2011.564115
- 67. Negin J, Nemser B, Cumming R, Lelerai E, Ben Amor Y, Pronyk P. HIV attitudes, awareness and testing among older adults in Africa. AIDS Behav. 2012;16: 63–68. doi:10.1007/s10461-011-9994-y

- 68. Taylor TN, Karpiak SE. Clinical Recommendations: PrEP and the Older Adult with HIV. In: HIV and Aging [Internet]. 23 Feb 2016 [cited 10 Oct 2016]. Available: http://hiv-age.org/2016/02/23/prep-and-the-older-adult-with-hiv/
- 69. Durvasula R. HIV/AIDS in Older Women: Unique Challenges, Unmet Needs. Behav Med Wash DC. 2014;40: 85–98. doi:10.1080/08964289.2014.893983
- 70. Winningham A, Richter D, Corwin S, Gore-Felton C. Perceptions of Vulnerability to HIV Among Older African American Women. J HIVAIDS Soc Serv. 2004;3: 25–42. doi:10.1300/J187v03n01_04
- 71. Sherman CA, Harvey SM, Noell J. "Are they still having sex?" STI's and unintended pregnancy among mid-life women. J Women Aging. 2005;17: 41–55. doi:10.1300/J074v17n03_04
- Sormanti M, Wu E, El-Bassel N. Considering HIV risk and intimate partner violence among older women of color: a descriptive analysis. Women Health. 2004;39: 45–63. doi:10.1300/J013v39n01_03
- Zablotsky D, Kennedy M. Risk factors and HIV transmission to midlife and older women: knowledge, options, and the initiation of safer sexual practices. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2003;33 Suppl 2: S122-130.
- 74. Drew O, Sherrard J. Sexually transmitted infections in the older woman. Menopause Int. 2008;14: 134–135. doi:10.1258/mi.2008.008020
- 75. Santoro N, Fan M, Maslow B, Schoenbaum E. Women and HIV infection: the makings of a midlife crisis. Maturitas. 2009;64: 160–164. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2009.09.001
- 76. Alcaide ML, Parmigiani A, Pallikkuth S, Roach M, Freguja R, Della Negra M, et al. Immune activation in HIV-infected aging women on antiretrovirals--implications for age-associated comorbidities: a cross-sectional pilot study. PloS One. 2013;8: e63804. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063804
- 77. Dolan SE, Huang JS, Killilea KM, Sullivan MP, Aliabadi N, Grinspoon S. Reduced bone density in HIVinfected women. AIDS Lond Engl. 2004;18: 475–483.
- Lusti-Narasimhan M, Beard JR. Sexual health in older women. Bull World Health Organ. 2013;91: 707–709. doi:10.2471/BLT.13.119230
- 79. Lovejoy TI, Heckman TG, Sikkema KJ, Hansen NB, Kochman A, Suhr JA, et al. Patterns and correlates of sexual activity and condom use behavior in persons 50-plus years of age living with HIV/AIDS. AIDS Behav. 2008;12: 943–956. doi:10.1007/s10461-008-9384-2
- 80. Siegel K, Schrimshaw EW. Reasons for the adoption of celibacy among older men and women living with HIV/AIDS. J Sex Res. 2003;40: 189–200. doi:10.1080/00224490309552180
- 81. Wyatt GE, Myers HF, Williams JK, Kitchen CR, Loeb T, Carmona JV, et al. Does a history of trauma contribute to HIV risk for women of color? Implications for prevention and policy. Am J Public Health. 2002;92: 660–665.

- 82. Budlender D. Compensation for Contributions: Report on interviews with volunteer caregivers in six countries. New York, USA: The Huairou Commission; 2010.
- 83. Chimwaza AF, Watkins SC. Giving care to people with symptoms of AIDS in rural sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS Care. 2004;16: 795–807. doi:10.1080/09540120412331290211
- 84. International Community of Women Living with HIV (ICW). ICW demands to age gracefully with HIV and asks for an end to ageism within the HIV response. [Internet]. International Community of Women Living with HIV (ICW); 2016. Available: http://www.iamicw.org/CampaignProcess.aspx?A=View&Data=%2brYBauiozXMYHavcUrEo1A%3d %3d
- 85. United Nations General Assembly. Political declaration on HIV and AIDS: On the fast track to accelerate the fight against HIV and to end the AIDS epidemic by 2030. New York, USA: United Nations; 2016 Jun.
- 86. Henderson N, Almack K. Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender ageing and care: A literature study. Soc Work. 2016;52: 267–279. doi:10.15270/52-2-504
- 87. Bernstein KT, Liu K-L, Begier EM, Koblin B, Karpati A, Murrill C. Same-Sex Attraction Disclosure to Health Care Providers Among New York City Men Who Have Sex With Men: Implications for HIV Testing Approaches. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168: 1458–1464. doi:10.1001/archinte.168.13.1458
- Golub SA, Tomassilli JC, Pantalone DW, Brennan M, Karpiak SE, Parsons JT. Prevalence and correlates of sexual behavior and risk management among HIV-positive adults over 50. Sex Transm Dis. 2010;37: 615–620.
- O'Cleirigh C, Newcomb ME, Mayer KH, Skeer M, Traeger L, Safren SA. Moderate levels of depression predict sexual transmission risk in HIV-infected MSM: a longitudinal analysis of data from six sites involved in a "prevention for positives" study. AIDS Behav. 2013;17: 1764–1769. doi:10.1007/s10461-013-0462-8
- 90. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations 2016 update. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 91. SAGE. SAGE The Issues Transgender Aging. In: SAGEusa.org [Internet]. [cited 15 Oct 2016]. Available: http://www.sageusa.org/issues/transgender.cfm
- 92. Poteat TC. Abstract 79: HIV in transgender populations: charted and uncharted waters. Boston, MA, USA: CROI Foundation; 2016.
- 93. Toufik A, Cadet-Tairou A, Janssen E, Gandilhon M. Première enquête nationale sur les usagers des CAARUD. Paris, France: Observatoire Francais des Drogues et des Toxicomanies; 2008.
- 94. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. Treatment and care for older drug users. Lisbon, Portugal: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction; 2010.
- 95. Zhou Y, Li X, Zhang C, Tan G, Stanton B, Zhang X, et al. Rates of HIV, syphilis, and HCV infections among different demographic groups of female sex workers in Guangxi China: evidence from 2010

national sentinel surveillance data. AIDS Care. 2013;25: 1433–1441. doi:10.1080/09540121.2013.772282

- 96. Shen Z, Zhang C, Li X, Su S, Cui Y, Zhou Y, et al. HIV-related behavioral risk factors among older female sex workers in Guangxi, China. AIDS Care. 2014;26: 1407–1410. doi:10.1080/09540121.2014.913764
- 97. Zhang C, Li X, Hong Y, Zhou Y, Liu W, Stanton B. Unprotected sex with their clients among lowpaying female sex workers in southwest China. AIDS Care. 2013;25: 503–506. doi:10.1080/09540121.2012.726345
- 98. Fazel S, Baillargeon J. The health of prisoners. Lancet Lond Engl. 2011;377: 956–965. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7
- 99. International Labour Organization. Access to and Effects of social protection on workers living with HIV and their households: An analytical report. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization; 2014.
- Sherr L, Cluver LD, Betancourt TS, Kellerman SE, Richter LM, Desmond C. Evidence of impact: health, psychological and social effects of adult HIV on children. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014;28 Suppl 3: S251-259. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000227
- 101. UNICEF, UNESCO, TREATASIA, APN Plus. LOST IN TRANSITIONS: Current issues faced by adolescents living with HIV in Asia Pacific. [Internet]. Bangkok, Thailand: Asia Pacific Network of People Living with HIV/AIDS; Available: http://www.unicef.org/eapro/Lost_in_Transitions.pdf
- 102. Sherr L, Croome N, Parra Castaneda K, Bradshaw K. A systematic review of psychological functioning of children exposed to HIV: using evidence to plan for tomorrow's HIV needs. AIDS Behav. 2014;18: 2059–2074. doi:10.1007/s10461-014-0747-6
- 103. Richter LM, Mofenson LM. Children born into families affected by HIV: AIDS. 2014;28: S241–S244. doi:10.1097/QAD.000000000000361
- Cluver LD, Orkin FM, Boyes ME, Sherr L. Cash plus care: social protection cumulatively mitigates HIV-risk behaviour among adolescents in South Africa. AIDS Lond Engl. 2014;28 Suppl 3: S389-397. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000340
- 105. Schackman BR, Gebo KA, Walensky RP, Losina E, Muccio T, Sax PE, et al. The lifetime cost of current human immunodeficiency virus care in the United States. Med Care. 2006;44: 990–997. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000228021.89490.2a
- 106. Lamptey P, Dirks R, Torpey K, Mastro TD. Discussion paper on how to promote the inclusion of the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases within other programmatic areas. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 107. World Health Organization. Global health sector strategy on HIV 2016-2021: Towards Ending AIDS. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2016.

- 108. Lamptey P, Merson M, Piot P, Reddy KS, Dirks R. Informing the 2011 UN Session on Noncommunicable Diseases: applying lessons from the AIDS response. PLoS Med. 2011;8: e1001086. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001086
- World Health Organization. Package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care in low-resource settings. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 110. European AIDS Treatment Group (EATG). Conference Report: Ageing with HIV A Lifecycle Approach. Brussels, Belgium: European AIDS Treatment Group (EATG); 2016.
- 111. Medecins Sans Frontieres (MSF). Le Prix de l'oubli Des millions de personnes en Afrique occidentale et centrale restent en marge de la lutte mondiale contre le VIH. Paris, France: Medecins Sans Frontieres (MSF); 2016.
- 112. Negin J, Rozea A, Martiniuk AL. HIV behavioural interventions targeted towards older adults: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2014;14: 507. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-507
- 113. Sureka A, Parada JP, Deloria-Knoll M, Chmiel JS, Phan L, Lyons TM, et al. HIV-related pneumonia care in older patients hospitalized in the early HAART era. AIDS Patient Care STDs. 2004;18: 99–107. doi:10.1089/108729104322802524
- 114. Mills EJ, Bärnighausen T, Negin J. HIV and aging--preparing for the challenges ahead. N Engl J Med. 2012;366: 1270–1273. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1113643
- 115. Stewart F, Yermo J. Pensions in Africa, OECD Working Papers on Insurance and Private Pensions, No. 30. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; 2009.
- 116. UNAIDS. Social Protection: Advancing the Response to HIV. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2015.
- 117. International Labour Organization. The Impact of Employment on HIV Treatment Adherence. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization; 2013.
- 118. AIDS-Hilfe Schweiz. Life insurance policies for people living with HIV: International analysis. Zurich, Switzerland: AIDS-Hilfe Schweiz; 2008.
- 119. Nakagawa F, May M, Phillips A. Life expectancy living with HIV: recent estimates and future implications. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2013;26: 17–25. doi:10.1097/QCO.0b013e32835ba6b1
- 120. Tanner B, Tilse C, Jonge D de. Restoring and Sustaining Home: The Impact of Home Modifications on the Meaning of Home for Older People. J Hous Elder. 2008;22: 195–215. doi:10.1080/02763890802232048
- 121. Vollmer S, Alfven T, Padayachy J, Harttgen K, Ghys PD, Bärnighausen T. HIV surveys in older adults: better data, better health. Lancet HIV. 2015;2: e40-41. doi:10.1016/S2352-3018(15)00004-1
- 122. World Health Organization. HIV/AIDS and mental health: report by the Secretariat [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2009. Available: http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/2107